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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ, CHAIR:  We’ll go ahead and start.  I’m sorry I’m late.  We’re going to call the Senate Governmental Organization Committee to order.  This is an informational oversight hearing.  And we very much appreciate everyone coming today.  
First and foremost let me say that obviously most people know that on February 8, 2005, the Lottery Commission voted to join Mega Millions, an eleven-state lottery at that time.  And on February 15th, about seven days later, I sent a request to the Office of Legislative Counsel asking for an opinion on whether California State Lottery could actually enter into this multi-state lottery under existing authority.  Most of you may have known I was concerned that the Lottery may have overstepped its authority and was entering a game that the public may not have envisioned when it actually passed the Lottery Act of 1984.
Approximately one month later, on March 8th, we called for an oversight hearing of this committee to better understand the Mega Millions game.  On June 13th, the Office of Legislative Counsel provided our office with an opinion, which to me clearly states that the Lottery does not have the statutory authority to participate in the multi-state lottery.  And we’re going to hear from Leg Counsel today.  But let me just very quickly give you my understanding, a summary of what they were saying.


First, I believe that they were saying that the Lottery Act itself created a very strict regulatory scheme in which the director and commission can conduct a state operated lottery.  There’s nothing, I believe, in the Lottery Act that expressly authorizes the Lottery to participate in this multi-state, or even a multi-national, lottery.  In particular, the Legislative Counsel pointed to the fact that the director may not contract with any private party for the operation and administration of the California State Lottery.  And that’s under Section Code 8880.56. 


I know we’re going to talk a little bit more about public entities and private parties, but at least that was my reading of the Legislative Counsel’s opinion.


The Legislative Counsel opinion also found that key operations of the Lottery would be relinquished to Mega Millions; that’s an issue for today’s discussion.
And finally, the Counsel’s opinion found that the apparent intent of the voters to the Lottery to be operated and administered exclusively by the state of California, given a strict regulatory scheme offered by the Lottery Act itself.  
The bottom line is, I think the legal theory in which the Lottery Commission is currently proceeding is highly questionable, given an opinion that we’ve received from Leg Counsel.  The bottom line, as we start to move through this hearing, we’d like to talk about, if you will, Leg Counsel’s opinion first.  We will then hear from the AG.  We’ll have an opportunity to listen to the Lottery director.  But the bottom line, again, is that the schools must come first.  And when we talk about the Lottery, getting the legal and technical issues is absolutely what we should be doing before these tickets are issued tomorrow, especially in light of some of the Daily Derby computer glitches we’ve seen.  
I want to make sure we don’t end up in a protractive litigation, and more importantly, that we all have a better understanding and are on the same legal page before we move forward in this particular game.

I do want to thank everyone for being here today.  I know we’ll have members coming in and out.  We are selling tickets, I believe, tomorrow.  Advertising has started and so has, if you will, some of the billboards, or some of the signs I’ve seen traveling even through Sacramento.  And so, the need to get this corrected is absolutely essential.


Of course, this is a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to speak on this matter can do so and sign up with the sergeant-at-arms.  We’ll have an opportunity at the completion of the formal agenda for that testimony. 


And I want to thank Senator Cox for being here, and Senator Soto, as well.  With that, let’s begin the hearing.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  May I?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  I hope we get a clarification today instead of having to choose between two.  Maybe we’ll get a compromise hearing; have one final one.  And I’m really glad you’re having this venue so we can do that and focus on coming up with one.  And make sure we’re going to do what we really need to do in order to generate, what I believe, is going to be a good tax base.  So I’m looking forward to today.  And thank you very much for calling this meeting.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Senator Soto.  Senator Cox do you have any questions?  Okay.  Let’s go ahead and start.  On the agenda, John Studebaker, Legislative Counsel Principal Deputy Director, Gaming Division and, Mike Kelly, Legislative Counsel Principal Deputy, Gaming Division.  Thank you for joining us.

MIKE KELLY:  Good morning.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.


MR. KELLY:  My name is Mike Kelly, with Leg Counsel.  And I think you fairly adequately summarized our opinion.  I can go through a few highlights and maybe clarify some points.  We wrote this opinion in the abstract question of whether the Lottery has the authority to enter into any multi-state lottery agreement.  Obviously it’s with reference to the fact that we know they have an agreement with Mega Millions.  But the abstract question is really whether they have the authority to enter into a contract.  It’s, again, without reference to that contract.

We have looked at the provisions of the contract.  It doesn’t really change the outcome of our opinion.  The question is, who has the ability to have operation and control of the California Lottery?


The statutes make it clear.  They kind of divide—there’s the state of California which is to operate and control the California State Lottery, and then there’s a reference to private entities.  And I realize some people want to hang their hat on that and say, Well, we’re talking about other states, which are clearly public entities.  Well of course they’re public entities, and of course, they’re going to form a consortium of other states.  However, when we’re faced with ambiguity such as this, because the Lottery Act really didn’t contemplate the state of California going out and contracting with, let’s say, the city of Las Vegas or the Lottery Corporation in Atlanta, Georgia, so if we were to look how are we going to classify these entities, when we’re faced with ambiguities, or I should say, when courts are faced with ambiguities or lack of clarity in the statute, they’re going to look to the ballot arguments in the case of an initiative statute.  And here the ballot arguments of the proponents were very clear that only the state of California is going to operate the state lottery.  This is as to the operation and control.  It’s not going to contract out the running of the games to some other public entity or private entity.  They use the term, private entity.  There’s no question that the state could contract; they can form a Joint Powers Agreement, to do all the other sorts of things that the so-called private entities could do.  Which means they could form a consortium of other states to build lotto machines, to print scratcher tickets, what have you.  But the operation and control remains with the State Lottery, the state of California.


The second main thrust of our opinion is, that the lottery scheme was clearly a highly regulated scenario.  In other words, gaming, historically speaking in terms of the federal constitution, there’s no right to gamble in this country; there’s no protected interest; there’s no fundamental interest; it’s always been heavily subject to the police power in each state.

The Lottery Act as enacted by the voters, created this scheme in which we would have licensed retailers who would sell the tickets.  The prize pool was set up so that it was returned in a certain percentage—50% back to the purchasers of the tickets.  Now, we could say, did the voters contemplate the notion that we’d have a multi-state lottery and we’d be shipping money to a grand prize winner in New York, or Texas, or some other place?  And the fact of the matter is, the way the scheme is set up—and again, if there’s any ambiguity we’d look to the voter pamphlet—clearly said the money is going to go back to people who purchased tickets in this state with the idea that it would promote business, and it would generate income to the people in California, not that it’s going to go into another state.


Finally, as to the Joint Powers, which again, we acknowledge that the Lottery Commission, as can any other state agency, join with another group of public entities to form a Joint Powers Agreement, but they can’t delegate an essential power.  And in this instance I think what we’ve essentially said, is the operation in control of the State Lottery, because of the nature of the lottery, is a non-delegable power.  It’s kind of a simpler way to say, you just can’t contract out the kernel of operating the Lottery.  You can’t have lottery games operated by someone else.  Which isn’t to say, of course, that this couldn’t be changed statutorily.  I think Section 8880.28 very clearly, and kind of unusual that an initiative statute would have details on how to amend the statute, but 8880.28 has three components in order to change games.  If the Lottery wants to offer a new or different game, they can do so.  And one of those components is seeking a statute, which is going to the Legislature having a bill passed, signed by the Governor, and authorizing a new or different type of game.

With that, if there are any questions, any other ambiguities, anything I’ve left out, that people would like further clarification, we’ll be here through the duration of the hearing to answer any questions.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  I think we’ll probably ask you to come back and forth as we hear from the AG and the Lottery director.  We may ask you to opine on some of the things that you’ve heard.  So if possible, if you would take really good notes.  We would like to see where we don’t match up.  I do have a few questions though before you leave.

You mentioned the issue of operational control.  In your mind, that would mean what?  Does that mean that when the voters pass this and you go back and you look at the original valid arguments for and against, operation control means we’re actually controlling the drawings and these types of things in-state, how do we define that?


MR. KELLY:  Well, that it’s under the control of the Lottery.  I think they’re required to actually have an outside independent person pull the numbers, but they have to be operating the games themselves.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that we’re in a multi-state consortium, I think every lottery gets a vote.  And I think the consortium becomes the party lottery, I think is the terminology, utilized, then we aren’t in control if, in essence, we’re out voted 11-1 or…


MR. KELLY:  It’s a majority vote.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  It’s a majority vote.  So, I think what you’re saying is, that because we have a vote now at a table of twelve, California, if the majority seeks to do something different, the right course for us would be to actually go and, I believe, amend or seek to amend, if it didn’t match California’s needs, the actual agreement, and that would take a vote.  And I think my reading of it says a two-thirds vote, in fact, to reconstitute the agreement.  So then we have a super vote, if you will.  So California, I think, not in control, per se, once you’re in the consortium, but if you seek to make an amendment, we have to seek a two-thirds of the other states approving that.  Is that your reading of the agreement?


MR. KELLY:  That’s my understanding.  And in fact, if I recall correctly, it’s again, the Georgia Lottery Corporation that really is the repository for all the rules and regulations—they’re basically going to run the lottery game.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And the other question I have is, I’m sure we’re going to debate, as I mentioned earlier, the issue of private entity and public entities and the implied powers, is Georgia Lottery, is that a public entity?


MR. KELLY:  Yes, it’s a public corporation.  And again, we’re overlaying California law on a whole series of other states.  As I understand it, the Mega Millions characterize themselves as sort of a loose consortium of states.  If we were to apply California law, the term that we would use is “unincorporated association.”  And again, those are specifically listed as private entities in the Lottery Act.  I’m not sure that that’s neither here nor there.  In other words, I don’t think there’s any question that these are all public agencies.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But the difference is that of the states that are currently participating, minus New Jersey, every one of those states has expressed statutory approval.


MR. KELLY:  Right.  Every state other than New Jersey, has gone to their legislature and gotten a statute.  And in some states it’s been a fairly big deal.  It’s been a way to solve a budget crisis or what have you.  In some of these statutes it’s very infinitesimally specific, down to selecting Mega Millions in their statute.  But all of them have authority to engage in a multi-jurisdictional, or a multi-state, or what have you, lottery.  New Jersey is the exception.  They have a slightly different scheme.  They have a broad constitutional authority which empowers their legislature to authorize state lotteries.  The limitation being, they have to be for education.  But certainly they could have multiple lotteries.  I suppose every PTA, or every school district in New Jersey, could operate a state lottery for the benefit of education.

And then in turn, what they’ve actually done with that power is, give broad authority to their lottery commission to do whatever is necessary to create lottery games to generate money, which is a little different, again, from the scheme in California, where we have a fairly highly regulated system, and again, where we really didn’t contemplate multi-state multi-jurisdictional lotteries at the time this was…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  So in other words, when we passed the original initiative there could have been lots of bells and whistles included in this, including the operational aspects, including the drawings, including, if you will, the auditing function specifically, as well.  All of those could have been in.  But maybe your reading of it in terms of the valid argument is, we never contemplated either a multi-state lottery or an international lottery, something of that sort.


MR. KELLY:  Well, in the sense that it wasn’t specifically contemplated and the powers, as sort of written, are inconsistent with that.  But again, there is a provision in there that permits the Legislature to amend the statute consistent with the purpose of the Lottery Act.  Meaning, you could certainly, at this point, pass a statute that as long as the revenue is used for benefit of education, we could join in a multi-state lottery.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Could you go a little further in terms of what you believe this doctrine of implied powers that seem to permeate this discussion, what does that mean, for the committee?


MR. KELLY:  Well in other words, the Lottery is empowered to do whatever is reasonably necessary to carryout its function, so it can employ auditors, it can hire and fire employees.  Again, all within the context of existing statutes.  So in the case of the Lottery, they’re subject to the civil service rules, for example.  But they can do anything within the purview of what they’re authorized to do.  The problem is, you can’t just step beyond that.  In other words, one could argue well, if we put slot machines in every 7-Eleven store in this state and all the money went to benefit education, well, that’s the lottery.  There’s a case out there, Western Telcon, in which the California Supreme Court basically said to the Lottery, You cannot have games that are not authorized by statute.  And that’s an instance which entailed the keno games.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you envision a scenario where the majority of states within the consortium that we’re in, do in fact….and you know, technology is catching up to us where we can actually play lotto on a slot machine….and let’s say the majority of states in the future decide to enter into a new game and this consortium decides that, in essence, this is something it wishes to participate in and it’s really a slot, but it’s a lotto slot or a lottery slot, is that something that would be authorized in California as part of this consortium could be a part of?


MR. KELLY:  Well, first of all, I think their agreement says that it’s all subject to the state laws within each state.  I think the issue there would not only be….first of all, 8880.28 would permit the Legislature to amend the statutes.  There may be a greater issue, because of course the lottery statute also enacted a constitutional provision that basically prohibited casinos of the type then operating in Nevada and New Jersey, so there may be a greater constitutional issue there which I think we would initially have concerns with.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I’m still caught up on the issue of the operational control being ceded to a larger, if you will, entity, being a joint powers is fine.  I guess we can join a joint powers, but when we cede control of the actual….our own destiny in many cases, and I’m sure that one would argue we could easily get out of that with the agreement.  But, you know, some of my reading of the agreement also says that there are some penalties involved in that.  If we decide to leave because of a constitutional issue, I think we can do that immediately, but my reading of the fine details also says that there’s some payment of costs that would have been incurred.  I think there is also a six-month period if it’s not a constitutional conflict.  We just decide, it’s not a good idea for California in which we’re paying additional dollars for those types of agreements, to get out.  Those states that you, and you did give us a list of all of the state’s statutes, I think yesterday—Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, etc., and in looking at those particular entities, given expressed statutory approval and California hasn’t, I guess what caught my eye particularly was, most of these agreements seem to deal and talk about things like operating expenses, things like liability reserves, multi-state control offices, records and accounts that should be available at all times for auditors to look at.  I mean, do those seem to be some of the operational aspects that you’re talking about that we’re going to cede over to a larger group?  

MR. KELLY:  I think that’s an accurate statement, sure.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the other states have protected themselves, it seems, against that.


MR. KELLY:  Some have very detailed statutes, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And my reading of the agreement, it doesn’t seem to have any of those types of protections built in.


MR. KELLY:  Well not the Mega Millions agreement, per se.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And that’s, I think, the issue today.  We don’t have any of those built into our system.  And I’m just kind of wondering, that’s not your question, but maybe to the director, but does that put California out there in a way that maybe it’s a disadvantage not only to taxpayers here, but people that buy tickets?


MR. KELLY:  We’re not in a position to obviously talk to the policy issue, but I think the concern would be, again, who does have the operational control of this particular game, and it does not appear to be the California State Lottery.  Whether you could structure this in such a way where the California Lottery were operating Mega Millions and subcontracting with other states, could be something entirely different.  But as it stands now, I think I would agree with you, that it does appear that control of the operations is somewhere else.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And if there is some legal dispute, if something goes wrong in this, I believe the agreement seems to say that it’s the state in which you bought the ticket that ultimately moves into litigation…


MR. KELLY:  Right.  And as I recall, there’s also a binding arbitration provision between the…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we didn’t sign up for that binding arbitration, did we?


MR. KELLY:  Well, again, I’m not sure that that was contemplated by the underlying statute.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Again, I think the binding arbitration issue for California, at least in my reading of the agreement was, silent.  And the reason for that would have been what, probably?


MR. KELLY:  I think that may be better directed to the Lottery, as to why they chose not to do that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  One of the issues also is this party lottery now talking about the larger Mega Millions consortium, if you will.  They, in essence, get to determine from time to time the configurations, the marketing, and some of these other items, is that an issue of control, as well?  Is that something that you would put in that category?

MR. KELLY:  I’m not sure that some of those things are the kinds of things that we can, under existing statute, contract out for.  And that again goes back to the private entities advertising that sort of thing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s something we sign up for, correct, when we sign the agreement; how we’re actually going to distribute and sell lottery tickets.


MR. KELLY:  No.  How the tickets are sold is a different issue.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  Why don’t we talk about that for a moment.


MR. KELLY:   Again, the scheme as contemplated by the voters was, again, this is with reference recognizing that we prohibited lotteries for 130 years, that suddenly….and our constitution still does prohibit lotteries.  There’s one exception in there and that’s for the California State Lottery.  So we come from this notion that it’s a highly regulated….gambling is a highly regulated activity, and we created, in the Lottery Act, a scheme in which the Lottery Commission would license and regulate retailers.  I assume they have the ability to pull licenses and other things.  Suddenly we would be thrust into a position where eleven other states would do whatever they wanted in terms of selling tickets, a portion of money of which is going to be joined with California’s money and distributed somewhere.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And I think the reference is each party lottery deserves the right to determine the manner in which any Mega Millions lottery ticket is sold or distributed within the state.  And that to you means what?


MR. KELLY:  Well, within this state it means that obviously the Lottery Commission is going to control the sales in this state, but sales in other states are going to not be done by licensed California retailers.  And again, someone in another state, unless every winner is here in California, is going to end up with the proceeds of money collected by California licensed retailers.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In California.  Okay.  In terms of the delegation of powers, your thought again, is that we are probably operational wise, giving a good portion of what we would normally control over, given the voting structure, given the participation?


MR. KELLY:  Again, I think the central question is, is this not really the central power of the Lottery that’s being delegated and is that not a non-delegable power, which would not be the subject of a joint power….not be capable of being subject of the Joint Powers Agreement.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any other questions members?  Yes, Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Thank you, Senator.  Let me just thank you, Mr. Kelly, for being here today.  You indicated Ms. Plummer is not available today.

MR. KELLY:  I’m afraid she’s in San Diego on vacation.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  It’s a great place to vacation.  Mr. Kelly, let me just ask you with respect to the June 13th letter, I noticed that your name wasn’t on any place in the document.  Did you, in fact, or your colleague there at the table, participate in the drafting of the agreement?


MR. KELLY:  Yes. 


SENATOR COX:  And to what extent did you participate in the drafting of the agreement?


MR. KELLY:  Well, let me just say, I mean it’s the opinion of the Office.


SENATOR COX:  But I want to be certain whether or not you participated in the drafting of the letter and the opinion.


MR. KELLY:  And the answer is yes.  

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Let me just ask you about the very first paragraph that Ms. Plummer put in the opinion that says that, and I’ll just cut to the chase here, you said that for all intents and purposes you hadn’t seen the agreement that had been executed.  Is that currently the situation?


MR. KELLY:  We’ve looked at the agreement.  But again, as I described up front, the underlying question is, is there the authority?  We’re not a fact finding agency.  We simply answer legal questions.


SENATOR COX:  I appreciate that.  I guess from my vantage point it would have been helpful for the Leg Counsel of California, either, Mr. Kelly, yourself, or Ms. Plummer, to say, By the way, I’ve read all the documents relative to the Mega Millions Lottery, and this is my opinion, that you don’t have the authority to do it, as opposed to a letter saying, Thank you very much but we haven’t read the language of the proposed executive agreement between California State Lottery and Mega Millions.  It doesn’t start you off with a great deal of confidence.  I’m sure you appreciate that.


So you’ve now seen the document?


MR. KELLY:  Yes.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  The Lottery Commission created by the provision that, in fact, created the lottery, and does the Legislature have any authority over the Lottery Commission?  They’re to do their job.

MR. KELLY:  Right.  The Lottery Commission exists to administer the lottery.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  All right.  And then when you quote in the document, it says that the Lottery Commission has all the authority to exercise all powers necessary to effectuate the purpose of the Lottery Act and this decision is taking into account the particularly sensitive nature of the State Lottery.  Which means, that games go up and down to the extent that they want to try to make them bigger and better and with greater participation; correct?

MR. KELLY:  Right.  I think that goes to the police power concept.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Now, relative to your statement regarding the entity, are you saying that the Mega Millions is a private party or a public party?


MR. KELLY:  Mega Millions is an unincorporated association of other states, and I don’t think there’s any question that in the abstract it’s a public entity.


SENATOR COX:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Now let me just ask you a couple more questions.  One of the things you mentioned in your opening testimony was that it had to do with the lottery was for the benefit of California.  You don’t have any doubt that a non-resident can win the lottery and take it out of the state of California?


MR. KELLY:  Oh, absolutely.


SENATOR COX:  Absolutely you do or you don’t?


MR. KELLY:  A person who purchases a ticket from a licensed California retailer can live anywhere in the world and take the money anywhere in the world, subject to paying whatever federal taxes.


SENATOR COX:  Let me then just ask you with respect to the aspect of the Mega Millions—is it your understanding and belief that the same amount of dollars that currently go to….in the current lottery, these current dollars that will be in this Mega Millions will be going to the state of California education system, just as the existing Lottery Act provides?


MR. KELLY:  Right.  In other words, the percentage that goes to education would remain the same, of sales in California. 

SENATOR COX:  If for some reason the lottery doesn’t work out there are some escape mechanisms; correct?  We could get out of the transaction?
MR. KELLY:  We’re not here to speak to that, but I’m sure that’s…
SENATOR COX:  Well your reading of the document, does that tell you that there are some escape hatches here?

MR. KELLY:  Right.  The sixth-month escape, sure.

SENATOR COX:  Okay.  I’ll save the additional questions, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.

SENATOR SOTO:  Mr. Chairman, 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Senator Soto, yes, of course.

SENATOR SOTO:  And you might have eluded to this in your testimony but I didn’t get it.  Tell me your plans to help make this more equitable and have just one, rather than the two that we’re dealing with.  I understand there’s kind of like a conflict here because these two things that I was talking about when we first started.  Have you at any time during your testimony addressed that, besides the answer that you gave me, to finally come up with just one entity, as the Senator calls them, or one group that handles this, or are we always going to continue to have both?

MR. KELLY:  You mean as having Mega Millions and the State Lottery?

SENATOR SOTO:  Umhmm.

MR. KELLY:  Well again, statutorily that can be done.  The problem is, there doesn’t appear to be authority currently.

SENATOR SOTO:  Who has that authority to do that?

MR. KELLY:  Well, the Legislature would have that authority to amend the statute.

SENATOR SOTO:  Combine it and make it just one big one.

MR. KELLY:  Right.  

SENATOR SOTO:  Then maybe we’d better do that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think that is the question of the day.

SENATOR COX:  Senator, let me just ask one additional question.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Kelly, let me just ask you to reconcile your opinion and that of the Attorney General’s, where the Attorney General has advised the California State Lottery that, in fact, you have the ability to enter into a Joint Powers Agreement, and that you have the ability to participate in a multi-state lottery game known as Mega Millions.  They’ve given two advice letters to that effect.  So help us, if you will, reconcile the two opinions.  They say, yes; you say, no.
MR. KELLY:  I think the question that was posed to them was, do we have the authority to enter into a Joint Powers Agreement?  And I think their focus was the Joint Powers Agreement.  And I will say, when we first started looking at this question we initially were kind of dazzled by that, well let’s look at the Joint Powers Agreement provisions and see, can they do it?  And of course, every agency can enter into a joint powers authority.  But the underlying question really, which I think we focused on was, is the underlying power there a delegable type power that is subject of a Joint Powers Agreement?
SENATOR COX:  Mr. Kelly, what’s ambiguous about the fact that CSL (California State Lottery) may enter into an agreement with other states for the purpose of offering a multi-state lottery game?  What’s ambiguous about that?

MR. KELLY:  I can’t speak for the Attorney General.  I will just say, the focus of their analysis seems to be on the joint powers authority,  rather than looking at the underlying statute that authorizes the Lottery to conduct lottery games.

SENATOR COX:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me just follow up with Senator Cox’s question.  In the Attorney General’s….the many letters and footnotes, I think they’re saying we may enter into an agreement with other states for the purpose of offering a multi-state lottery game, period.  But then there’s one more sentence that says, Of course, this ability does not relieve the California State Lottery of it’s obligation to comply with controlling California law.
MR. KELLY:  And state laws and the constitution, absolutely.  And I think those qualifiers maybe the thing that our analysis was more aimed at.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  And I think that was the request from my office, is that we really get an idea of whether or not, looking at, if you will, the arguments, the original arguments, in the ballot, whether or not ultimately we ever envisioned at some point in time….I know the Governor envisioned, and CPR and others, that this might be a money-maker for California.  It might revive sales and all the good things that come with, if you will, getting additional dollars into the pot.  But on the other hand, if I go back to the original intent of the lottery which was to, in essence, make sure that it was also run in a way that we were not ceding control, that we would look at gaming itself with a very controlled manner and proceed very cautiously, and I’m not sure the voters thought that a commission of unelected folks could delegate….not that they could join a joint powers, but when we take such a large staff into a whole new game with eleven other states who have expressed statutory authority minus us, and that we start to, in essence, play in a game that ultimately may produce more revenue, but is simply, as Senator Soto said earlier, I think your opinion offered a problem to look at and also a solution.  The solution is, that the Legislature also provides statutory approval of two-thirds.  So I read your opinion as kind of even.  It’s, there’s a problem and yet there’s a solution as well.

Let me just ask one more question, and I know Senator Cox might have another one.  The administrative agency in general, can they, as we start to talk about these joint powers, agreements, and this section of law, can they invoke any power not conveyed to them by law?  Can folks just join a joint powers authority and say, Well, we kind of feel that this is for the good of the commonality of what we’re trying to achieve, so therefore we can expressly move in this direction, even though the law may not give them the power?
MR. KELLY:  Well, it has to be something with in the purview of their authority.  And the classic examples of joint powers are where one wanted water district and two other, or three other, adjacent water districts combined to build a single dam and a water distribution system.  Each of them has the authority to distribute water, and it’s just easier for them to do that together.  That doesn’t mean that the water district could go out and chop down forests and sell lumber.  It has to be within the purview of their authority.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And we have to make sure that matches, if you will, current law, current statute, current constitutional requirements; correct?
MR. KELLY:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the issue isn’t whether or not they can do that.  The issues isn’t whether or not they can actually form this consortium.  I think we’re going to ask the AG in a moment, whether or not that limited question is what they analyzed, or was it something much broader?  And I think that really gets to the heart of the hearing today, is simply I was never worried, I think, whether or not we could join a joint powers authority.  It seemed at the last hearing to have answered that very clearly.  The question to me was much larger and that is, if we are in this joint powers authority, are we, in essence, giving up the types of controls that the voters envisioned when they passed this in 1984 so that we actually are running a California, and I say, a, California State Lottery that is, in essence, within the state?  And I’m not sure we’ve overstepped that or not.  It’s just some commentary.
The control over accounting and ticketing, we’ve relinquished some of that, it sounds, to a private entity.  And I guess the issue will be whether or not this is a private entity or not; correct?

MR. KELLY:  I don’t want to get lost in this private entity.  Our point is simply that in the Lottery Act itself, it uses the state of California and private entities.  Those are the only two things referenced.  So when you come up with another public agency, you have to classify them in one of those two instances.  There’s no question that these other states are public agencies.  And it’s just for the purposes of that act it appears that state of California meant solely the state of California, and that the voters intended only the state have operational control of the lottery.  That everyone else, for the Lottery Act purposes, they are private entities.  And so when we use the term “private entity,” we use that term as it’s written in the Lottery Act itself.  That they can contract for all these other things.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Any other questions?

SENATOR COX:  Well just one more.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Kelly, let me just ask you about the comment made by the Attorney General in his, I don’t remember what letter, but it says, The Lottery, however, may not delegate to the MUSL any power which it does not already possess.  In your opinion, has this Lottery Commission delegated to the MUSL any power which it does not already possess?
MR. KELLY:  Well I suppose there may be a question as to whether they have the power to engage in a multi-state lottery.  That may be at the core.  But in terms of operating a lottery, those would be powers that the Lottery Commission itself has.

SENATOR COX:  So they’ve delegated the powers that they have for a multi-state lottery.

MR. KELLY:  Well again, maybe this is a bootstrapping or a circular argument.  The point is, to operate….

SENATOR COX:  And by the way, not from my point of view.

MR. KELLY:  In any event, the kinds of powers that they have are powers to operate a lottery, and those may not be delegated to the Mega Millions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me finish  Senator Cox’s question with the rest of the sentence.  Let me ask you this, if I could.  In the footnote that Senator Cox references it says, The agreement appears to require contributions or payments from participating lotteries to be limited to amounts lawfully available under their constitutional laws, and I think everyone agrees on that.  As long as we are abiding by that.  

I have a question about the 50 cents in a minute and see we actually meet that. 

But it also says, The provisions of Paragraph 7 and 8 of the actual amendment, the agreement, injects some ambiguity into the issue of compliance with constitutions and laws that govern the participating lotteries.  We must caution that the agreement entered into by the Lottery (and the MUSL that Senator Cox was referring to), is unlawful unless the revenues to the Lottery are distributed in strict compliance with the provisions of the Government Code.
So, I think the issue is, yes if we may not delegate any power we currently don’t possess, but I think the Attorney General seems to be offering some caveats in paragraphs 7 & 8 saying, however, we want to be very clear that if you’re going beyond, or we seem to be offering something different, particularly….and I’ll ask the director of the Lottery on the distribution of the 50 cents.  My reading of the agreement shows that what we may statutorily say is 50 cents, in the way that we think about how it normally would go, I’m not sure it operates that way statutorily in the way that we envisioned in the state lottery itself.

SENATOR COX:  You mean today?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Today.  And so I just want to add to that caveat if I could, because there were some….do you have any comment on that?

MR. KELLY:  Again, the way the Lottery initially was contemplated, is that 50 cents would be distributed back to the prizes within this state to people who bought tickets.  There’s no question that under this scheme the grand prize, there’s going to be winners and losers.  Money is going to flow into this state; money is going to flow out of this state, depending on where the grand prize winner is.  So of that 50 cents, a good portion of that is likely to, from time to time, not be distributed back to the people who bought tickets in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s right.  And under the scheme currently within Mega Millions, but under the proposition passed by the voters in 1984, do you believe that matches the scheme of…

MR. KELLY:  Well, the intent clearly was, that the money was going to go back to people who bought tickets in California from licensed retailers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So I think there’s, to me….this is not your opinion.  But there’s some ambiguity in that.  If we’re talking about 50 cents as originally passed and is statutorily required, and I think just a caveat.  It’s mentioned in this footnote by the Attorney General under 8880.4, as long as we’re meeting those categories, 34%, 16%, 50%.  But when we enter a game that ultimately says prize money or a percentage of which we’re not going to be able to account for in some way or another because we now are sending some out, and I do know the agreement exempts us from certain categories beyond the grand prize, I read that very clearly, I still find a missing 5%.  And if we’re missing 5%, then I’m wondering if we’re really meeting with the intent of the actual Lottery itself has passed, and therefore that last sentence of what the AG says in their words, let me say, that injects some ambiguity into the issue of compliance with the constitution and laws, tells me that there’s still a reason for this hearing; that we need to figure out ultimately what that means.  And I’m very interested finding out if that actually matches up.  We didn’t ask you that specific question, but I think you’ve opined that as long as we were meeting the constitutional mandates of the initiative itself, those are the issues that I think we need to cover.  So I really appreciate you being here.  Any other questions by members?
MR. KELLY:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  I just want everyone to know that Senator Cox and I are not attorneys, we’re bankers, so we actually read footnotes, so that’s normally where we find the bad things in the financial statements.

Let’s have, if we could, the AG’s office come up.  Good afternoon, Mr. Mukai, Senior Assistant Attorney General, Head of the Gaming and Indian Law Division.  Thank you for joining us today.  We very much appreciate it.

ROBERT MUKAI:  My privilege, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now let’s just maybe start off with the broad question which is, the opinion that was sought by the Lottery Commission and director, was it limited to the joint powers ability itself, or was it something broader in terms of the, or participating in a mega lottery or something of that sort?  How would you characterize this?

MR. MUKAI:  Mr. Chairman, our March opinion of this year, was the second of two opinions, as the committee recognizes.  Our earlier opinion had been issued in April of 2003 and had addressed similar issues.  So in the 2005 opinion to which reference has been made, we were reiterating many of the principles that we had earlier adverted to.  We had access to, because the Lottery had given to us, a copy of the restated and amended agreement and we, of course, had that in mind at the time that we drafted our opinion, the 2005 opinion.  We believe that we were stating general principles that were applicable both to state agencies as public entities at large by our reference to the Joint Powers Agreement.  Also, with full regard to the provisions of the Lottery Act, which constitute the limitations upon the authority of the Lottery as well as the essential grant of power to the Lottery to go forward and conduct the California State Lottery.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess the question I have as just maybe a lay person not understanding some of the legal jargon is, what is the difference between an informal opinion and a formal opinion, and why wouldn’t the Lottery seek, or is there a term such as, “we’d like to see a formal opinion?”  What’s the differential between this informal nature of the AG’s opinion?

MR. MUKAI:  The Lottery is what we refer to as an authorized requester along with members of the Legislature and other public officials who are entitled to request an official opinion of the Attorney General.  When an official opinion is requested, it is our practice to solicit views from interested members of the community, including those associated with the industry and including public officials who may have discernable interest in the subject matter.  But when we do that, it is understood by the requester that our opinion is to be public and that we maintain a public file with respect to the comments that are made to us so that the input and the output are both public.  

We refer to informal opinions when we are giving advice to a client agency.  In those situations our advice, because it is protected by the attorney/client privilege, is not public, nor is the information that we receive from the agency for the purpose of informing our advice.  It is up to the agency, the requester, to make that advice public when it receives it from us if it wishes to.  And if it does so, it waives the attorney/client privilege.  Unless it does so, the advice that we provide, which we refer to as an informal opinion, remains confidential.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  That’s very helpful.  Just given those different categories, formal and informal.  The Lottery asked you to look into this on….do you remember the dates you were asked for the informal?

MR. MUKAI:  Sir, I don’t remember the precise date.  However, we were requested early in 2005 to look at the issue.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that was the October 4th, staff tells me, 2002.  And what is the time differential between an informal opinion and a formal opinion, given all of those processes you have to mention—the parties?  How long does it take?

MR. MUKAI:  I’m sorry, Mr. Chairman.  I misunderstood the question.  I thought you were asking when the Lottery first asked us to look into the Mega Millions question, which would have been in early 2005.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The Mega Millions question was an early 2005 question.  And if we would have asked for a formal opinion, would we have that opinion now at this point in time?

MR. MUKAI:  It depends on the timeframe which the requester indicates as being operative with regard to the timeliness of the advice.  We attempt in all cases to provide advice as soon as we can and in some reasonable fashion.  Formal opinions usually take longer than informal opinions.  And candidly, from time to time agencies will request our views as advice or informal opinions in order to take advantage of a shorter timeframe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I don’t want you to opine on this from your opinion, but this seems to be a pretty big move from the Lottery’s perspective to go from an in-state lottery to….and I read one of your opinions as saying it’s not just a multi-state lottery, but an international lottery.  That’s a pretty big step.  And it seems to me that a formal opinion would probably give people some comfort that, you know, all the parties were asked.  Is that still an option for the Legislature?  As Senator Soto said, to request a formal opinion from the AG on the very same questions and probably a little further, or is this just something from an agency’s point of view that they would ask for and therefore….the question I always have I guess, is this law then?  In other words, you’ve opined that they can enter into a joint powers authority and they have now taken that power to join a multi-state lottery, is that, given the informal nature of the opinion, prevailing law, or is this something that is still somewhat up in the air?

MR. MUKAI:  Well, I would say that as a matter of process if a legislature desired to have a formal opinion from the attorney general’s office on this matter, the formal opinion process would be initiated in the absence of pending litigation or pending legislation.  Those being the two principle restrictions on our ability to express an opinion.

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Chairman, let me just chime in.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

SENATOR COX:  How does that change your opinion, to whether it’s formal or informal?

MR. MUKAI:  That is a prudential concern, Senator Cox.  It’s a matter of the attorney general not wishing to bespeak an opinion on a matter that is currently before the courts or that is currently before the Legislature in the form of pending legislation.  And that is a matter of respect to the judiciary and the Legislature so as not to…

SENATOR COX:  It doesn’t change your opinion though, does it sir? 

MR. MUKAI:  No, sir.  Not necessarily.  However, just to respond to the pending question—any member of the Legislature is, of course, at liberty to request a formal opinion of the Attorney General’s office.  It would not necessarily change the substance of an informal opinion that had been previously given, particularly where as here, the opinion has been fully reviewed through executive staff.
SENATOR COX:  And therefore, a formal opinion doesn’t change the opinion of the attorney general relative to whether or not the Lottery Commission has the authority to participate in a multi-state lottery.

MR. MUKAI:  The request for formal opinion itself would not.  If the attorney general were to reconsider the question on the request to the Legislature, the reasoning utilized in the informal opinion preceding it would undoubtedly be examined and fully reexamined.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Just in general terms, would you expect the decision….your recommendation to be an opinion, would that be any different if done on a formal basis?
MR. MUKAI:  No, sir.  Based on the review that I know, this opinion underwent, I would know it.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Thank you, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think the question that we would ask if such requests were to come from, at least our office, would be a different question.  And I think the question would be the same question we asked the Leg Counsel.  Have you had the opportunity to read the Leg Counsel’s opinion?

MR. MUKAI:  Yes, sir.  We were provided a copy by the Lottery.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the question I would have is, were two different questions asked of your office and Legislative Counsel’s Office, or were they the same set of questions in terms of the issue of entering into the Mega Lottery?

MR. MUKAI:  The statement or the question in Legislative Counsel’s opinion appeared to be very similar, if not identical, to the question that we understood was being presented to us by the Lottery, which was, whether the Lottery had the authority to enter into the Joint Powers Agreement with these out-of-state public entities for the purpose of conducting Mega Millions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And your thoughts after reading the Legislative Counsel’s opinion?

MR. MUKAI:  I do not have any quarrel with the authorities and the premises that are cited by the Legislative Counsel’s opinion.  But I believe that the conclusion that the Leg Counsel has reached based on the fact that it didn’t have the agreement available to it at the time was predicated upon suppositions that we did not entertain.  We, the Attorney General’s Office, did not entertain.  As previously indicated, the Lottery had provided us a copy of the restated agreement, and that was before us at the time that our March opinion was written.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And you did hear the Leg Counsel say at the beginning, that they have had an opportunity since then to read the agreement, and they would not have changed their conclusion, so I think we’re probably at a stalemate there.

Any other questions, Senator Cox?  Senator Soto?

If we could have you stick around for a moment, that would be great.

MR. MUKAI:  Fine, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.

MR. MUKAI:  Thank you, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Mr. Chon Gutierrez, Acting Director, California State Lottery, and Melissa Meith, Chief Counsel, California State Lottery.  Thank you for joining us.
CHON GUTIERREZ:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, members.  My name is Chon Gutierrez.  I am the Acting Director of the California Lottery.  To my left I have our chief counsel, Melissa Meith, and to my right, I have our Director of Marketing, Jim Hasegawa.

A couple of points I’d like to make, Mr. Chairman, if it’s okay with the Chair?
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Sure.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  The Mega Millions game is a brand new game that is going to be offered in California and eleven other states, that currently does not exist.  The name exists, obviously, but the game itself is starting for the very first time tomorrow.  It is a legal game authorized by the California Lottery.

Before we began this game I asked our chief counsel whether we had the legal authority to enter into the game.  Her answer was, yes.  

Our commissioners asked the same question at the first public meeting that we had to discuss the Mega Millions.  They asked the question, Is there legal authority for this?  Our chief counsel answered in the affirmative, and I asked her to please contact the attorney general’s office and get a written opinion to that effect.

Once the Mega Millions agreement, the Joint Powers Authority was finalized, I asked our chief counsel to submit it to the attorney general’s office for their review.  And I did not execute that document until such time that I was advised that it did meet the California legal standards, and only then did we enter it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s it?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  That’s it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me just ask a couple of questions.  The legal counsel gave you, and I saw, I think, maybe a memorandum that was asking that the board consider after looking into this issue, a movement into the Mega Millions.  Is that correct?  That came from your legal counsel at the very beginning?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I’m sorry, Mr. Chairman.  Can you restate the question?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Your legal counsel….I’m just trying to trace back how we got into this….memorandum by your general counsel on the issue of whether the California State Lottery should delegate authority to the director to execute on behalf of the California State Lottery an inter-jurisdictional agreement with other states operating one of two multi-state lottery games.  And it was February 8, 2005.  How did this memo come about?  How did we begin the process of this memo actually being formulated?  To anyone there.  How did this happen, this February 8th date?
MELISSA MEITH:  This memo that you’re referring to is what’s known as an issue memorandum and it becomes part of the package that goes to the commission for their consideration when they’re looking at an issue.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Were you directed to write this?  How did we get into this?

MS. MEITH:  The history of the Lottery studying joining a multi-state game?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How did this memorandum get written?

MS. MEITH:  Well, this memorandum is the conclusion of a long process of studying multi-state games and how they could grow sales and increase the Lottery’s education contribution that’s been going on for some time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And who directed you to write this memo?

MS. MEITH:  I don’t remember direction to write this memo, but it was within my bailiwick, if you will, for lack of a better word, to come up with a memorandum that conveyed the information to the Commission for their consideration.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Not to badger you, but I find it hard to believe that as an attorney you were sitting in your office and you can’t remember who would ask you to write a memorandum for a commission packet.

MS. MEITH:  I routinely write memorandums for the commission as part of my duties.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Really.  And out of no direction at all in terms of entering into this game at the very beginning of the process?

MS. MEITH:  I sit on the executive staff of the Commission.  We have meetings continuously about the operation of the Lottery.  Probably at one of those meetings the decision was made that I would develop the draft of the memorandum to convey the information to the Commission.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  The reason I think it’s important is, you’re actually making the recommendation, so let’s be real clear.  I know the Commission votes, and I know the executive director executes, but this memorandum says….I read you the issue, and it’s very clear, the very first sentence of the recommendation is, yes.  As the Lottery’s executive officer, the director is an appropriate designee of the Commission to, in essence, take the first step in this.  In order for me to really understand how we got into this game in the first place, I think I’m just trying to get you to tell me how you were, in essence, directed to have this memorandum for approval or sent to the Commission or sent to…
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, members, perhaps it would be instructive if I shared with you a little bit of the history of the California Lottery.  We started the California Lottery approximately 20 years ago, and it was started with five commissioners.  There was no practice.  There was no precedent.  There was no traditional way of doing business, and the commissioners formed the process, perhaps not unlike the process that you use on legislation.  They set up a process where the chief counsel and the deputy director, the chief deputy director of the California Lottery, sat with the chairman and put together an agenda.  That agenda, in turn, was posted in a public way.  There was a series of so-called issue memos that were created back in 1985 where they used a format that was a format that repeated ________.  The document I’m looking at is consistent with that format, with the issue memo.  It’s been used for over 20 years.  Any item that is on the Commission agenda goes through a process like this.  It’s authored by whoever the subject matter expert is on the subject.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Guys, I was just asking a simple question.  I was asking your attorney, who directed her to write a memorandum that began this process of us joining the Mega Millions?  A real simple question.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  It just seemed that the format was an issue, 
Mr. Chairman.  I wanted to clarify the format.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Not the format, just who directed….I mean, I read this as simply saying, Yes, we should authorize you to begin to offer steps into looking into, at this point in time….it says here, “One of two multi-state lottery games.”  So I imagine this was very early in the process.  I mean, is this something that comes out of the governor’s performance review?  Is this something that….I mean, where did we get this memorandum that says, “Move forward?”

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Perhaps there would value, Mr. Chairman, if I were to ask Mr. Hasegawa to talk about the annual business plan and the business plan that we have for the current year that we’re in.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

JIM HASEGAWA:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Actually, investigating multi-state lottery games occurred as far back as in 2003.  That was a common industry practice.  California and Florida are the only two lotteries who do not belong to one of the two multi-state jurisdictional games, Power Ball or Mega Millions.  In that time staff constantly look at what other lottery states are doing in order to possibly increase the sales for the California Lottery.  It’s part of the annual business plan and budget.  The current fiscal year, one of the objectives was to have staff and the Commission approve to have staff thoroughly investigate the possibility of joining a multi-state lottery.

MR. GUTIERREZ:   And what timeframe was that business plan put together?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Well the Commission adopted it in June of 2004, but the business plan was put together from about January through June of 2004.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  January through June of 2004, the business plan?

MR. HASEGAWA:  For the current fiscal year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Now that’s the business plan, right?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How many public hearings did the commission have on this subject prior to that?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Two meetings.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Prior to this memorandum?  How many meetings did it take in order to produce some sort of movement to get your attorney, your general counsel, to write a memorandum recommending that you move forward?  How many public meetings under Knox-Keene were noticed?  Were discussed?  People could show up?  Tell me how many occurred.  Don’t tell me about the business plan.  I get the business plan.  I guess what I’m asking is…
MR. HASEGAWA:  No.  The business plan is presented before the Commission at a public session.  And the 2004/2005 business plan had two sessions, two commission meetings, where that was on the agenda.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what dates were those?

MR. HASEGAWA:  I don’t know the dates.  I’ll have to talk to…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Prior to February 8, 2005?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Correct.  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So commissioners were involved in these meetings, so they actually participated in this movement towards, at this point, looking at various Power Ball and let’s say…

MR. HASEGAWA:  Multi-state lotteries, yes.  At that time the discussion was framed around multi-state lotteries in general, not one specific game in particular.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And these were open meetings and noticed?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  Were the legislators invited to these meetings, or are they?  It seems to me that we should have a notice of when these meetings are held so that if we are free and we can attend, that we would, so we’d be more aware of what’s happening.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, members, the meetings are noticed according the Knox…

SENATOR SOTO:  Do we get a particular notice specifically for the legislators?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We notice them on our website as required by law, but I can give assurance that we will be happy to notice them to all the members of the Legislature in the future.

SENATOR SOTO:  Probably be a good idea.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think Senator Soto hits a good point on notice.  But I guess the question that we have is, when you notice those particular hearings, was the issue of multi-state lotteries specifically referenced, or was this Lottery budget plan that, you know, in essence, included this and probably a whole host of other types of proposals?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I would believe that the agenda would have stated the annual business plan and budget.  The issue memos like the ones you have in front of you that dealt with the business plan and budget, do detail things like multi-state gaming.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that is noticed?  I can find that notice somewhere in your commission meetings prior to this memorandum, dealing with the multi-state?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Prior to which memorandum?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  February 8, 2005.

MS. MEITH:  They would be part of the record.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  On the agenda?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  In the issue memo documents.

MS. MEITH:  There’s a booklet that’s produced for each meeting that contains all of the memorandums for that meeting, as well as the agenda.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that’s posted?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So it’s part of your business plans.  And we can’t remember who directed you to write this, is that basically what you’re telling us?

MS. MEITH:  Yup.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Really?

MS. MEITH:  That’s the honest answer.  It’s part of my duties to write.  I probably even volunteered.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  When I see that, and I agree with what he’s doing.  The Chairman is trying to get to the bottom of some of these decisions that are being made, and we don’t know anything about them.  Somehow or other we are not as informed as we think we should be, and I think that probably is the essence of why we’re holding this meeting today, and what is happening to this.  The decisions are being made without the knowledge of the Legislature and the people really that should be helping make the decisions.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And big decisions.  And entering into a multi-state lottery…

SENATOR SOTO:  And entering into these agreements with which we have nothing to do, and I think we’re responsible at the very end.  And ultimately the bottom line is, I think that we are ultimately responsible for whatever you do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Exactly.

SENATOR SOTO:  So we should know.  And I think that it’s wrong for whoever it is that’s making these decisions, to take for granted, either taking it for granted or just assuming that we don’t need to know everything that’s going on, and, perhaps we should.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Absolutely.  And on that vein, let’s go through, if we could, Mr. Gutierrez, some of the questions I’d like for the record.  And anyone can answer it at the table, but I want to make sure I proceed through these questions and we get some answers on it.  Your vantage point, we entered into this Mega Millions, again, what caused that decision, so I’m very clear?  Your general counsel makes a convincing argument on why to join, and the business plan included it; correct? But what caused us, the Lottery, to move into this direction?
MR. GUTIERREZ:  I can speak to it from a business plan standpoint.  Obviously the mandate for the California Lottery is to maximize funds for public education.  And in doing so, staff looked at a variety of options, a variety of practices that are going on within the lottery industry.  In reviewing the best practices of the lottery industry, many the California Lottery could not do at the current time, such as higher prize payouts for scratchers and so forth, Mega Millions and/or Power Ball, one of the multi-state games, offered the best probability of significant sales increases for the California Lottery amongst the variety of options that we reviewed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the implementation of this game, that’s tomorrow, correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  That’s correct.  As a matter of fact, Mr. Chairman, the software program was put together immediately after the Attorney General’s approval of the Joint Powers Agreement, and that has been loaded.  And some could argue, it’s already started.  The mechanics have already started.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The band is going to be outside tomorrow with you.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  The band is going to be outside, and we certainly hope that you would join us.  We have a product called, California Combo, Mr. Chairman.  For $10 you can buy five quick picks of Mega Millions and five of SuperLOTTO.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask a question on maybe your counsel.  Did the specific governing code in the Lot…

MR. GUTIERREZ:  One hundred forty million to one, sir.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  One hundred seventy two million.

MR. GUTERREZ:  SuperLOTTO is lower, Mr. Chairman.  It’s $41 million.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask, the specific governing code section of the Lottery Act that gives us the statutory authority to join this game, was the question I asked the Leg Counsel, can you tell me where it’s at?  You look at eleven other states have this, and are we just putting our hats on the Joint Powers Authority ability or do you see something statutorily that allows us to actually enter into this?
MS. MEITH:  Well I think there’s a number of statutes in the California Lottery Act that talk about how it will be operated and controlled.  And I think one of your key questions today earlier seemed to be, is California giving up that control? 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.

MS. MEITH:  The Legislative Counsel doesn’t seem to be disputing the game itself.  That it’s a lotto game and you pick six numbers, and it’s therefore a lottery game and within the Commission’s authority that way.  Would you agree with that, Mr. Chairman?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess my question would simply be, do you believe this is statutory authority given to you or is this an implied authority?

MS. MEITH:  I believe it’s consistent with our enabling law in every respect.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, then where is the statute?  Why don’t you produce it for us?

MS. MEITH:  Well I would refer you to the various provisions of the act.  Would you like me to go through those?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Are those implied, or are those….if I were to give you the statutes of Georgia, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey, I could point to specific statutory….well, not New Jersey….minus the New Jersey, I can give you specific statutory requisites that would allow them to enter into that.  I think anyone could find them by a simple Google search.  I’m kind of wondering, in the California State Lottery, where is the provision statutorily that allows us to do this, unless it’s implied? 

MS. MEITH:  If you’re asking if there is a statute that says California should enter a multi-state game, there is no such statute.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And that was never given to you by the Legislature.  The Legislature could give you that, correct?


MS. MEITH:  I don’t believe it’s necessary for the Legislature to give us that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about the voters?


MS. MEITH:  I believe the voters have given the authority to the commission to operate the Lottery so as to maximize revenue for public education so long as they do it consistently with these laws.  And we’re certainly prepared to talk about how this game is operated in a way that is consistent with these laws.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m not worried about how the game is operated.  I’m worried about whether or not we can enter into the game statutorily.  I think that’s the thrust of the question today.  Is simply, can we legally enter into this game tomorrow?  Of course, you’re arguing that we can.  And I guess my question is, is that an implied or is that an expressed statutory ability given to you?  That’s a real simple question.


MS. MEITH:  I believe it’s expressed within this statute that we may join a game just like this, and operate this game in accordance with our laws and rules.  And the earlier question that you raised with the group, and with the Legislative Counsel, and also the Attorney General, was, is California somehow inappropriately delegating its authority?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And your answer to that is?


MS. MEITH:  No.  There’s no provision of control in our act that’s delegated here.  The agreement itself says we retain all control to the extent there’s an operational difference with other states.  Our law controls the draws being conducted in accordance with our laws ______ retailers are operated.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got you.  But, let me ask you just a common sense question from the average Californian in Bakersfield.  Does that mean….are we going to stretch so much to meet that statement that you’ve just mentioned that we’re going to actually fly someone from the Commission all the way to Atlanta, Georgia to make this work?  Does that make a lot of sense?  In order to kind of make your legal theory work so that we’re in compliance, we’re actually going to fly someone from the office and on a rotating basis, to kind of make sure until, I guess video conferencing or something of that sort takes over, are we stretching so far that maybe we didn’t ask the Legislature to do this, so therefore we’re going to do things that maybe the average Californian says, My goodness, they’re going to fly somebody from an office just to make sure that we are meeting the statutory…


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, members, I made that decision and perhaps I should answer it.  It was specifically my decision, and I considered it very carefully.  I considered the issue of making sure that we minimize the opportunity for someone to sue us.  We did not want to raise legal issues that might be a problem later on.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why not come to the Legislature and avoid all that?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Because we think we can, for an investment of $500, we can generate $300 million in increased sales, over $102 million for education, as much as $170 million.  We will come to you, Mr. Chairman, and we will look for a legislative change of some kind so that we could use videotapes, we could use other technologies to address to avoid the issue of having to spend $500 every week to send someone to Georgia.  I made that decision.  It was an informed decision.  It was a business decision.  And it was the right decision.


SENATOR SOTO:  Well maybe we ought to then have a report on what’s happening here.  You know all this talk that we’re having, all these questions that we’re asking, it just keeps increasing my curiosity.  We said, and this may be off the line of what the Chairman is trying to do, but at the very beginning I think the reason everybody voted for this was because we said it was for education.  Yet, everyday, as legislators, at least I know I do, and I think some of my colleagues do, get complaints from the schools and the teachers and the parents that the schools are not getting the materials, and they don’t have the materials to supply the children and the students that they need to be able to comply with some of the necessary situations to give these kids a good education.  Where is all this money going then if it’s not going to the schools and their not really realizing the profits that are being made from this lottery?  
I can’t tell you, Senator Florez, how glad I am that you had this meeting.  You know, I was coming here because it’s my obligation to be here and so forth, but I’m finding out so much more that really questions….every time you ask a question, more questions arise about, are we really meeting that responsibility of providing this money for the education of our children when every day, I’m sure, the Senator receives as many complaints as I do, about where is the material for our schools?  Why aren’t they getting enough of an education that makes them not want to drop out?  Here we are getting reports….every week we get reports, at the tenth grade we have less kids than started out in ninth or the eighth grade.  By the time they get to the twelfth grade to graduate, we may only have 50% of the people, and maybe that’s a big figure, that started out trying to get through high school.  And yet, we hear that mega bucks, you’re talking about mega, mega bucks going into education.  Where is it; and what are we doing with it; and why are not the kids getting the education that really need in order to be able to graduate with a good education that make them productive citizens in the future, and leaders, taking our place here?

SENATOR COX:  Mr. Chairman, it’s important that we point out that the Lottery proceeds only account for about 2% in round numbers of the education budget.  The Lottery was never meant to be the end all/be all for educational funding.


SENATOR SOTO:  No, but they sure did try to fool you into believing that when they were trying to…


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I know we have a budget stalemate that deals with 1% of the budget, but those one percents and two percents could be really important.


Let me ask a question going back to something you’ve mentioned, Mr. Gutierrez, you said that you would come to the Legislature to seek the statutory authority to do things like video conferencing and some of the things we wouldn’t have to fly someone back and forth, and I guess again the common sense issue to me, why would you seek approval for such a small thing like that, and yet not seek approval to just have the ability to do it anyway?  I mean, it seems as though again, we’re running to fill holes here.  There’s a hole here and we’re going to just say, well we’re going to go the Legislature and we’re going to make sure that little hole is completed and we’re not going to the Legislature to do this.  And I guess the logic is, if you’re going to come to the Legislature, you have a willing legislature; you have people who are here who want to see it implemented, like the ten other states that are in the agreement.  I think I was very serious a week ago when I said the Leg Counsel offered a problem and a solution, which was a two-thirds vote of the Legislature.  I mean, why not seek that if, indeed, there is a willing participation in the Legislature to give you that express authority so that everyone is informed on what exactly the policy is?  Why not do that?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  You know, that’s a good question, Mr. Chairman, and it is something that I considered seriously.  As I said, one of the first things I did when I joined the Lottery, and that’s been since November of the past calendar year, is to explore what legal authority we had to do what?  It is the informed judgment of my chief counsel, as it is the Attorney General’s office, that we have the authority to enter into an agreement with Mega Millions, and I followed that advice diligently.


Now, they went on to say that there is a questionable legal issue involved in the draws.  The statutes that affect the draw itself make three points:  One, that it be an open public meeting; and they are.  Two, that the draw be conducted by somebody other than a Lottery employee; they are.  I guess that’s four points.  The third point is that an independent entity certify the drawing; and we do have one—KPMG.  And lastly, that a Lottery employee inspect the equipment before and after each drawing.  Those are the four conditions that have to be met.  I was advised by counsel that those could be met using today’s technology.  I did not want to risk that issue, and so I took the most conservative position possible, and I appreciate that there’s a cost of about $500 a month….pardon me, a week, to meet that standard.  

But to Senator Soto’s point, which I understand completely, is by joining Mega Millions we are producing over $100 million in new money for California’s classrooms, and at this time, that’s an important consideration.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And that, again, isn’t a guarantee; correct?
MR. GUTIERREZ:  I don’t understand what guarantee means.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, the schools get up to 34%.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No.  They get 34% minimum.  They get more than…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Anything 16% you don’t use administratively, can go to schools.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  That is correct, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask a couple of questions about the actual amended and restated multi-state lottery agreement now.  That agreement was amended and changed based on California’s needs.  Is that the rationale for that?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I’ll ask our chief counsel to answer those questions.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. MEITH:  That’s true, and there were some additional points that the other states wanted to incorporate, as well.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you tell us what some of those were?

MS. MEITH:  The other points, or the points for California?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The points that the other states needed to have with California joining.

MS. MEITH:  It had to do actually….this is a minor legal point….it had to do with some of the points that are stated in the recitals about the purposes of the act.  I believe some of the states wanted to talk about restating the recitals being all those provisions that start with “whereas.”  There was discussion about the meeting of the Lottery directors and how those meetings would be conducted.  Those are the two points that I remember as coming out of the other states.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did they have any issue with our ability to, on the second and third tiers of payment, participate or not participate in California?  Are we doing something special that other states aren’t.

MS. MEITH:  Every other state offers a preset prize amount for the second through ninth prize level; California does not.  That was well understood by all of the multi-state lotteries that we discussed joining from the outset, I believe.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And what does that get California by, in essence, having that exemption?

MS. MEITH:  Well, it’s consistent with our law.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the distribution of those monies, every dollar waged, 50 cents goes to the prize money.

MS. MEITH:  Goes to a prize fund.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  It goes to a prize fund; is that correct?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The entire 50 cents, does it go to the grand prize or not?

MS. MEITH:  No, it doesn’t.  It’s broken out over the nine prize levels.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so there are winners.  They pick five numbers, not six, something of that sort, and that’s how it works in California now; is that correct?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how many cents on each dollar generated in California actually goes towards this grand prize jackpot?

MS. MEITH:  The California distribution, I believe, is about…

MR. GUTIERREZ:  For Mega Millions?

MS. MEITH:  Yes, for Mega Millions.  It’s roughly, of the 50 cents, it’s 30%.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  A little over 31% of the prize pool goes to the grand prize.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that the same for each participating state?
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, it is.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so, California isn’t putting any more or less than any other state in comparison to that particular grand prize jackpot; is that correct?

MS. MEITH:  And that’s true for all the prize levels.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. MEITH:  The prize level amounts are the same; it’s the prizes that are different in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So the distribution percentages wagered on the Mega Millions is going to stay 50% for prizes; is that right?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thirty-four percent for education; correct?

MS. MEITH:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And 16% for administrative costs.

MS. MEITH:  Yes.  Actually, it’s a minimum of 34% for education, about 50% for prizes, and a maximum of 16% for administration.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you say about 50%, what’s the caveat there?

MS. MEITH:  The statute actually says that the 50% is calculated across all games over the course of a fiscal year.  So for all the games we offer—the instant ticket games and all of the draw games at the end of the year, the prize fund is 50%.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And Senator Soto mentioned the educational funds.  The full 16% cost for Mega Millions, is that going to be, from your estimation, a full 16%, or is some of that money going to be available for additional educational enhancement here in California?  Are you going to use up to the maximum of 16%?
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, members, the law allows some discretion to the commission on that point.  They can use that money and give it to California’s classrooms.  That is one of the options.  And the other one is, they can use it for promotions to increase the prize fund.  And what we have found is, when we do a promotion and we increase the size of the prize fund, we increase sales about ten times the value of the investment, and we have a return on our investment of three to one to education.  So every dollar of administrative savings that we invest in increasing the prize fund, we produce $3 for education.  So that choice would be presented to the Commission as part of their annual business plan.  I don’t think we’ve made a recommendation on that point yet.  So by the operation of law, if we made no decision, that money would go to education at the end of the year.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Soto.

SENATOR SOTO:  That makes me very curious.  Give me a guess or a ballpark figure about how much money a year goes to education.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  One billion one hundred million dollars.

SENATOR SOTO:  And that leads me to another thought, perhaps, that we should do, Senator.  Is maybe call the Education Commission and see what they’re doing with this money.  Because, the kids aren’t getting it.  It’s not going to where it should be going.  It’s not your fault.  Your sending it there, but something is happening in our schools.  They’re telling us the kids don’t want to go past the tenth grade.  They don’t want to graduate.  And they’re not doing it.  And we’re not providing the education, I guess, incentives that we should, and we have all this money.  I’m really incensed right now, thinking about all the things we could be doing, and it’s not being done.  Something is happening that our kids are not getting the education that they are supposed to be getting because of this money.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  We will definitely want to look into that with our education folks.

One other question that I have on the overhead costs that you’ve mentioned, so I think what I heard you say was, that at least for the Mega Millions game, that you plan to reinvest rather than send the additional proceeds to education, we’re probably going to reinvest for marketing.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I don’t think we’ve made a decision on that point, Mr. Chairman.

MR. HASEGAWA:  And it wouldn’t be considered marketing.  It’s really that in the scratcher prizes, the prize payout on games is higher, so it’s really not for marketing expenditures, it’s going back to the players.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it going to the kids?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  It’s a 3 to 1 ratio, Mr. Chairman.  Every dollar we invest…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But for every dollar we don’t spend, beyond the….if you’re saying you’re going to use some of the 16% discretion to do additional investment, that’s money that doesn’t get to kids.  Is that correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, we’re not saying that.  I’m sorry there’s some confusion here.  We have made no decision yet on what to do with the administrative savings of Mega Millions.  One of the options is to let the law run its course and have that money go to education at the end of the fiscal year.  Another option, which is a policy option that’s within the purview of the Commission, is to invest it in the prize fund itself.  Give it to the people of California that play the lottery.  We believe that through that business investment, we can increase the amount of money going to education threefold.  But we have not made that decision, Mr. Chairman.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I understand.  Okay, so that decision hasn’t been made.  So that decision with Mega Millions is still up in the air; correct?
MR. HASEGAWA:  Correct.  That would be before the Commission meeting…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we can play semantics, but we can’t say that, if you will, additional dollars going to education because we’re not sure if we’re going to use a portion of those dollars to remarket, and we can’t tell education they’re going to get less than if we didn’t reinvest because…
MR. GUTIERREZ:  They will get a minimum of 34% as required by law.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The distribution of proceeds, how does that work in this Mega Millions game?  We send the proceeds of ticket sales to where?

MS. MEITH:  We don’t send the proceeds of tickets to anywhere.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How does it work?

MS. MEITH:  Ticket sale proceeds stay in our account, which I believe is held by the state controller’s office.  We pay all of California prizes.  There was some confusion, I think, that retailers in other states are going to be paying California prizes, that’s not the case.  California retailers can pay prizes up to $599; after that they have to submit a claim to Lottery headquarters.  It goes through a validation procedures and then a check is issued by the state controller’s office.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Issued where?

MS. MEITH:  I’m sorry.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Issued where?

MS. MEITH:  The prize check?  To the prize winner.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we’re not sending any money?  I thought I read an agreement at 10:30 A.M., I’m confused.

MS. MEITH:  All right.  On the morning after a jackpot prize has been won, the state that sold that winning ticket, I believe….I’m not the finance person here and I realize you are….but the finance people then get on the phone and determine what share needs to be sent to the state where the prize winning ticket was sold in order to buy the annuity to fund the jackpot prize.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  That wouldn’t match your earlier statement, that no money is being sent out of California then, would it?

MS. MEITH:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re saying everything is banked here and we pay our own prize winners.  And then the next statement was, on settlement day, which us bankers know very well, at 10:30 a.m., money is wired over to Atlanta, Georgia, and they basically do the settlement of the grand prize winner; correct?

MS. MEITH:  No.  It would go to California.  I mean, it would stay here if we were paying the prize winner.  So the only difference is, we pay prize winners out of state all of the time.  So it would go to Ohio or New York, or wherever that grand prize jackpot winner was sold, so they can purchase the annuity. 
SENATOR FLOREZ:  But that’s a prize winner.  I’m talking about within the structure of Mega Millions participating with eleven other states, that we’re going to….actually it goes to the Virginia lottery; is that correct?  And they transfer to…

MR. GUTIERREZ:  There’s some confusion here, Mr. Chairman.  Perhaps I can help.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Please.  I’m just reading your finance and operation procedures.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We appreciate that, Mr. Chairman.  When we sell Mega Millions tickets, the prize fund money goes into an account that is held by the state controller and is invested appropriately by the treasurer.  If there is no winner, we hold all that cash.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  What if there is a winner?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Then the procedures that you’re describing take effect, and the state that sold the winner is the one that takes control over the money.  It never goes to any one lottery for subsequent distribution.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So the state that has the winner shall distribute the funds to the grand prize winner; is that correct?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  And in California, based upon statistics, with California representing 25% of the sales, we will have 25% of the winners in California.  And over the course of one year, no money will leave California; some will leave in some instances; some will return.  At the end of the day, it will be 50%.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Boy, that’s confusing.  I’m sorry.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  It is very confusing, Mr. Chairman.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, actually, I guess it’s not as confusing to me in the understanding of process; I think it’s confusing in the words that you’re using.  So, let me be more specific.

If a grand prize winner in New York wins the grand prize and we have sufficient funds in our account, the controller controls and then puts it in a very liquid, I presume, annuities; is that correct?  Treasuries, something of that sort.  And I guess what happens is, if the winner is in New York, we’re going to hold our money here and New York is going to pay out of their funds the winner even though we’re in a multi-state lottery with proceeds they don’t have, even though everyone participated?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We have to pay our share.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we are sending the money to the prize winner, correct?

SENATOR COX:  We send prize money to them and they send prize money to us.  
MR. GUTIERREZ:  And at the end of the year it balances to zero.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I feel like I’m in a meeting with Goldman Zacks.  I guess all I’m asking you is that, and it’s a very simple question.  I appreciate the ability, or the willingness to say we’re not sending any money out of state.  We’re holding it.  But at some point, there’s going to be a jackpot winner in some other state and we’re going to have to wire funds to that state so they can pay the grand prize winner, bottom line; at 10:30; four days after settlement; that’s your finance agreement that you’ve put in this that I’ve read; is that just a correct statement?  It’s a very simple question.  That’s what your finance…. I mean, this is what the funding of the grand prize jackpot Item 6 Section (d) and (c), that’s what they tell us.  
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, the agreement is as you described.  We are required to send money to the state in which the winning ticket was sold, and they are required to send money to us if we sell the winning ticket.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got you.  When we send that money over so they can disperse, would you consider that being control of our dollars when they disperse it?  That’s an easy question.

MS. MEITH:  I guess I don’t know what…

SENATOR COX:  Wait a minute.  The answer to the question is obviously, yes.  When you send the money over there, it’s being used to pay out to a prize winner.  The answer is, somebody else is paying it out.  They assume control.  The answer is, yes.  But there isn’t anything wrong with that.  Because of the fact when the winner is here, they send the money to us.  We have control of that money.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  When we win.  If we don’t win, who has control?

MS. MEITH:  When the winner lives in California…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh absolutely.  I’m not disputing that.  And Chon says they’re going to win every 25% of the time.  So that will definitely remember.  But I think…

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We hope you buy a ticket.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Given those percentages we should convene again in five months and ten days, and we’ll be back.  Given the twelve-month period and the drawings are….25% of the time, yes about five months.  

Senator Cox, you may have answered my question.  I think you understand where I was going and I think you’ve answered it.  At some point we’re going to send money out to pay the winner and sometimes they’re going to send us money to pay the winner.  There’s a flow of funds that happen and at some point somebody else is in control.  And I guess it really kind of gets to the operational issues that we hit with Leg Counsel.  Ultimately, are we ceding control by, in essence, being part of this multi-state lottery, of the actual dollars produced with California’s money in a way that the voters may not have thought we were going back in 1984?  Are we ceding that particular Californian’s dollar or so to another state, even if we are paying the grand prize winner in another jurisdiction?  I mean, it’s okay to say because that’s what we’re entering into.
MS. MEITH:  The apprised liability in SuperLOTTO Plus, which is an in-state game, when the grand prize is won in SuperLOTTO Plus, the prize winner has six months to come forward and claim the prize.  But we immediately take that prize fund….first of all, let me take a step back—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Wait.  We’re still waiting to find out—somebody in Virginia wins…

MS. MEITH:  We don’t know.  We know there was a winning ticket held.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  We don’t know.  We’re going to hold the money until we know the winner?

MS. MEITH:  No, no.  You immediately…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Virginia is going to get it, right?

MS. MEITH:  You immediately buy the annuity.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  Who buys the annuity?

MS. MEITH:  The state that sold the ticket.  And I think Virginia does it for some of the…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So let me just be clear.  So when there’s a winner in Virginia, we send money over to pay the winner.  The winner doesn’t walk in the next morning…

MS. MEITH:  In proportion to our sales.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And the state that wins gets to make, if you will….they get to invest those funds in annuities until such time that they pay that winner.  So again, we’re sending money over and they’re going be investing California dollars, and investing in a way until they pay the grand prize winner?  That’s what I think we would do.

MS. MEITH:  Until the claim is verified.  And if no prize winner comes forward, the funds come back to California and go to education.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But in the mean time they’re making money off the money that’s in the bank.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  This is a technical point, Mr. Chairman.  It’s not annuities that are being…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Nonetheless, there’s a clearing account in an overnight bank.  I do understand this much being past chairman of the Senate Banking Committee, a little bit.

MS. MEITH:  Probably better …

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right.  So I’m just trying to get to who’s making money ultimately with California’s money?  It’s real simple.  If we’re sending it over, there’s a grand prize winner in an other state, they’re making money off of…

MR. HASEGAWA:  No.  The annuity that’s purchased, it goes to the winner, so the state that won the prize where the ticket was sold doesn’t retain any of that money.  The money is calculated based on the jackpot amount that was won, and the cash that’s contributed is to buy that annuity so that all that money would go to the prize winner over the 26 payments.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Is that different than how we currently deal with our current games in the way that prize money is distributed?  Is that different?  Everything we’ve just talked about, is that something different than what we currently do in California?

MR. HASEGAWA:  We do buy an annuity if there is a winner right after the jackpot is won also in California for SuperLOTTO Plus.  I think Melissa was starting to go through that example earlier.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And I guess the issue Senator Cox mentioned earlier, you can invest powers in the Joint Powers Authority as long as we’re not doing anything different than we normally would be doing.  And the question is, given that we’re sending money out of state to settle the grand prize winner, the 75% of the time or so, are we doing something different there than we would be in our current lottery game here in California in the disbursement of those dollars?  I would say that we are, very much so.  I mean, we’re sending it to another state that’s got to clear that money at a certain time, the agreement that you signed at 10:30 in the morning, four days after closing, and they are obviously making money on those four days, believe me, because there’s a four-day window that they’re going to make money.  That’s very clear.  I mean, there’s no way they can’t make money.  So please don’t argue that.  I mean, they’re going to hold that.  That’s within your own agreement.  There’s a four-day period of clearance here, so they are making money off of Californian’s money.  That’s okay.  I guess that’s the reason people enter into this thing.  But the question I have is, is that different than what we do in California?  Is that different than what we do in California?  Is the disbursement of dollars that occurs in another state on a closing date, is that any different than we deal with in our own current California State Lottery?  That’s the question.  If it is different, then it’s….here’s the point.  If it is different, then it’s unconstitutional, and the Leg Counsel is correct.  Because the operational aspects, and Senator Cox is correct, if we’re just delegating to this Joint Powers Authority or to this new multi-state joint powers group, the eleven or twelve states, something that we do in our ordinary province, which is run the lottery.  But if we’re doing something different, then I think we start to hit the operational issues Leg Counsel hit on, and that is simply, we’re doing something out of the bounds of, and even the AG’s office has said in their footnotes, the caveat is, is that we don’t do anything different than what we’re currently doing.  And that’s what I’m trying to get to; are we doing something different in the disbursement of dollars, particularly, that we would be doing in our own game?  That’s it.  Bottom line.
MR. HASEGAWA:  I don’t know how we buy those annuities currently with SuperLOTTO Plus.

MS. MEITH:  I believe the arrangements are the same for any annuitized prize.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this is the scary part for us—you’re saying that you think that they are the same, but we don’t know that they are the same.

MS. MEITH:  You asked for the lawyers and the director, and now we’re talking about the finance procedures, and I certainly wish we’d brought that person along.  But my understanding of what we do is, we buy an annuity.  We give as much of the prize….we figure out what the prize is, and we write a check for the prize winner and we hold it for them until they get it.  So I believe it’s consistent.  The difference obviously…

SENATOR COX:  Well you don’t buy an annuity to begin with because you know what the ticket was.  You know the ticket is going to be paid in cash, and if it’s paid in cash you’re not, in fact, going to buy an annuity.  You are, in fact, going to wait for that person to come forward, are you not?

MS. MEITH:  With SuperLOTTO Plus right now you can say up front that you want cash; then we hold the cash.
SENATOR COX:  Until somebody comes forward.

MS. MEITH:  But the amount of the cash is the cost of the annuity.  So we always price an annuity.  We don’t always buy an annuity.

SENATOR COX:  Well, okay.  You did, in fact, say you bought an annuity.  You, in fact, don’t buy an annuity to begin with.  

MS. MEITH:  In SuperLOTTO Plus.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m sorry to take us through that, but I think I’m trying to make a point that, if we’re going to get to the heart of the question of whether you need to go to the Legislature and get our approval, which I think you do….and that’s my opinion or thoughts….you have to prove to us that in order to be in the Joint Powers Authority you’re really kind of just doing things that we normally would be doing, but just with other states.  And the constitutional question offered by the AG in the caveat is, yes, you can do that.  You can enter into that, but you can’t do something different than what is constitutionally given to you by the voters.  And I would say that just following the strict distribution of it isn’t enough.

Let’s go to the retailers, and I’ll get off that question for a little bit.

The California Lottery vetted out every out-of-state retailer, do we know how those retailers work, or are we just looking at our own retailers?

MR. HASEGAWA:  We’re responsible for our own retailers.

MS. MEITH:  California Mega Millions is sold in California by California retailers.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Were the California retailers, under stricter guidelines than out of state retailers?

MS. MEITH:  I don’t know.  I believe they’re about the same for all states.  They have to have the financial wherewithal to handle the project.  And the way that the accounting is handled, I believe, is similar across all states.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we don’t worry about the out of state retailers; we worry about our own; correct?  And then we do vet our own retailers pretty seriously; is that correct?

MR. HASEGAWA:  Yes.  And all lotteries, of course, security is the major issue and an important issue, so they do investigations and so forth with their retailers just as we do before signing on a new account.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I guess what would concern me is that we are, again, going to send dollars out to someone….you’ve all mentioned this.  I didn’t.  That a winner could be anyone.  It could be somebody traveling through California.  And I think it was Senator Cox who answered this question—if somebody is passing through, they’re buying in California or they’re buying in another state, and they buy a ticket from a retailer that was never, in essence, vetted by the California Lottery, we’re responsible for paying a portion of that; correct, if they’re the grand prize winner?
MS. MEITH:  ________ 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And yet we don’t know if the retailer has actually been vetted in those other states for the same types of compliance that we have here?

MS. MEITH:  We don’t.  But I would point out that the key thing is, the bearer bond that’s the ticket and the validation procedure for that ticket go on for two pages in this agreement and even more detailed….
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But we can’t verify, as I’ve been mentioning, the level of the retailer as compared to California.  In other words, in California we have some very strict guidelines and we really watch them.  But the other retailers in the other states, we’re not really sure; correct?

MS. MEITH:  We’re sure that they are subject to standards that are pretty equivalent to our standards.  But my point, Senator is…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How are you sure about that?

MS. MEITH:  Because in Lottery cooperative discussions with other states, we’re all aware of the need for retailer security and retailer issues.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that in your agreement?  I didn’t read that in the multi-state agreement.

MS. MEITH:  The standards for retailers?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I didn’t see that.
MS. MEITH:  No, I don’t think it’s addressed there.  The standards for validating…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Then how do we know that?

MS. MEITH:  We do have industry conferences and talk about retailers and recruitment and how…

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But if it’s not written, if it’s not in the agreement that these high standards exist, why would I feel comfortable?  And let me tell you where I’m getting to.  You know, the Lottery Act as passed by the voters says, your job as the State Lottery, is to ensure the integrity, security, honesty, and fairness in the operation and administration of the state’s lottery.  Now I think we can do that with our own retailers.  We run the state lottery.  But when we talk about multi-state, how do you ensure the integrity, security, honesty and fairness if we really don’t have an idea, even in the agreement, that the retailers from out of state are going to be living up to that standard?  How do we tell the voters we’ve actually met the intent of the original proposition if, indeed, we can’t do that.

MS. MEITH:  I think the key thing is that prizes are paid in a way that ensures the integrity and fairness of the standards of the Lottery.  And the detailed procedures include very refined validation procedures.  Where you got the ticket, you can be handed a ticket on the street.  If it’s a winning ticket, you’re entitled to a prize.  Your prize entitlement then has to be verified according to the validation procedures on that ticket.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I guess I don’t read the Lottery language as passed by the voters as saying, the integrity, security, honesty, fairness in the distribution of tickets and payment.  It says, in the operation and administration of the state’s lottery.  

MS. MEITH:  In every aspect.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  In every aspect.  So if we don’t have authority over out of state Mega Millions ticket vendors, then how can I be assured that we’re actually keeping to the word of that proposition?


MS. MEITH:  If someone comes forward with a grand jackpot ticket that is bought from a retailer that was certified, that ticket is going to be going through a number of verification processes.  It could be found in the street, is my point.  So I think you’re talking about, how do we know that the person who printed the check is up to our standards, when the key thing is, what’s printed on the check by the person who’s actually entering into that financial obligation?  Is that useful?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  It’s useful.  You know, according to the contract, my reading, it says, That each party lottery reserve the right to determine the manner in which any Mega Millions lottery ticket is sold or distributed within its state.  And I like that part.  But I guess what I don’t understand is, if we have so little control of these out of state retailers who could potentially sell the winning ticket, and yet the Lottery Act says, very specific, in terms of how these retailers should operate, I guess there seems to be an inconsistency there in terms of keeping with the original intent of the 1984 constitutional provisions.  And I guess, I’m kind of wondering, how do we settle that?  You don’t see a problem?  You find it on the street, good for you as long as it matches?


MS. MEITH:  I’m sure for most people who have a winning ticket, if they’re handed it by their uncle, that’s fine.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask you some questions, if you will, about the agreement itself.  And I’m sorry to go on just a little bit, but you are the folks at the hearing, so we’ll reserve a little time for you on this.  The agreement, again, on page two says, that party lotteries agree to jointly operate a multi-state lottery game or games, as the party lottery directors may determine to offer from time to time.  And I think you heard me mention to the Leg Counsel, are we ceding control from a voting perspective of being one of eleven or one of twelve of this group, or is this the kind of….do we have any sort of, if you will, say in the actual commitment to the way the game changes, or are we just ceding control in this voting manner?  Your perspective on that.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  You know, just as a general premise, Mr. Chairman, my perspective is, is that I report to the California Lottery Commission.  And as such, I can only carryout the policy that they have adopted.  So if they concur with the change the rest of the states want to make, then we go along based upon their judgment.  If they have a different view, be it because of guidance that they received from the Legislature or the Governor, or because they believe it’s inappropriate, then it’s my responsibility to remove myself from the organization.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And what would be the cost of removing yourself from the organization?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Probably less than the benefit that we derived by joining it in the first place.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how do we do that in a way to recoup all of the fixed costs that we’ve put into this besides the marketing?  I’m sure you buy TV early, but you don’t buy on a daily basis.  How do we recoup that, if you will?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Well again, I want to be very clear that we recoup those costs very early on.  The cost of joining Mega Millions was relatively modest.  The total cost of Mega Millions was redirected from the existing budget advertisement that would have otherwise marketed a different product mix, is now being used to announce the arrival of Mega Millions.  And so all of that cost actually was budgeted and would have been expended by the current end of the year.  So we could recover that if you just look at the 16% maximum, if you’re looking at just the six points of profitability that we are not using at this point on our 16% of administrative costs, we’re looking at over $15 million right there.  So in one year, we could recover all of the costs, and education would still be ahead by over $100 million.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Again, getting back to the voting aspects—the Leg Counsel told us that they’re concern was the operational control, ceding that.  It didn’t necessarily match the valid arguments when voters thought we were going to be participating in a California state lottery, now we’re finding ourselves as part of a larger group with one vote.  And as you said, you have the ability to pull out, and I read that very clearly in the agreement.  However, there were some caveats.  If you seek to change the game it says that they get to vote two-thirds if California had some changes.  So it seems as though you’re either going to pull out or you’re going to ask two-thirds of the game participants, the other lotteries, to vote with you.  Is that they way you look at it?


MS. MEITH:  I think that’s true, Senator.  But I also pointed out that there’s a caveat that says to the extent there’s a conflict with your state law, your state law controls.  So the game could not be changed in a way that conflicted with our state law.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So in other words, as the games mix, the directors will determine from time to time, that’s within the language of the agreement—Games that directors may determine to offer from time to time, as long as that doesn’t necessarily constitute conflict with your reading of the constitution and some of our….you don’t have any expressed statutory ability other than the Joint Powers, correct?  So what would they be violating?


MS. MEITH:  Well, there’s a number of prohibitions in our law, for example, on game themes.  In Section 8880.28, if the state said let’s have a game that has a theme of dog racing, we’d say that’s prohibited in California.  We can’t do that.  We would not be part of that.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And even if the other members wanted to do that?


MS. MEITH:  That’s right.  Launching a new game would be….this provision was added to just introduce the notion, as I understand it, that perhaps there would be some other game at some point that we states jointly wanted to offer.  No such state game is on the drawing board.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Not yet?


MS. MEITH:  That’s right.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In terms of California’s liability in terms of Mega Millions operating expenses, who determines the operating expenses for Mega Millions?  Does California do that, or do the other eleven states get a vote on that and we kind of put in our dollars?  Who has control of that?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, to the best of my knowledge, the only liability, operating liability, that I am aware of that exists, that is shared amongst the other lotteries, is the auditing function for the draw.  And that is a contract with KPMG that, to the best of my knowledge, we are going to assume that we are going to assess administrative costs to the other states.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  It says the agreement to sign, at least the signed agreement that I read, says the Lottery has to share equally among other states regarding operational expenses, which is a broader term…


MR. GUTIERREZ:  That would be the point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  That’s the only thing we’re going to share?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  To the best of my knowledge, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So the drawing itself is all we’re sharing.  So we’re going to do our own auditor?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, we do. We’re required by law to do our own auditing.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand that.  And where is the auditor going to be, again?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  In California.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  The auditor isn’t going to be in Atlanta, Georgia?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  The KPMG audit of the California books….I’m sorry.  I’m not sure which audit.  We are subject to about a half dozen audits.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How about just Mega Millions, the topic of today?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  You’ve mentioned two different audits, Mr. Chairman.  Which one were you referring to?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  In order to meet the requirements of the Mega Millions game, where will the independent auditor be housed, in California or in Atlanta, Georgia? 


MR. GUTIERREZ:  The independent auditor for the Mega Millions draw is KPMG.  The partnership will be in Atlanta, and they will be on contract to us, to the best of my knowledge.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So the partnership meaning….what does that mean?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  The KPMG partnership.  I’m not familiar with the business structure, but I assume each office has partners, and I assume they’re incorporated in each state, and they also have a national presence.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  When you call your auditor or KPMG, what’s the area code?  Let’s just get to that.  The semantics, I mean, is it 916; is it a California area code; is there a different code?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  We have an agreement with KPMG with a corporate presence in California, and to the best of my knowledge, in Atlanta.  We have two contracts with KPMG.  So if we were to be calling them on any business, we call them at 916, presumably.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  All right.  So in other words, we have someone in Atlanta, we have someone in Sacramento.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, sir.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And we’re also going to fly people out to Atlanta?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  We’re going to take our security staff and we’re going to rotate them.  And yes, they are going to witness the drawing in person until such time as we can develop a different device to meet the standard of the law that is consistent with our attorneys.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And again, I think those two aspects will keep us within the operational aspects of the Joint Powers Authority.  And from your vantage point, keeps us within the constitutionality of not going beyond that.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  That’s our view.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I think you mentioned earlier in a hearing that you would come to the Legislature to seek, or quite possibly seek, approval for the new technology that wouldn’t allow us to have to send someone over to Atlanta.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  If necessary.  And of course, as always, I would rely on our house counsel, and I would rely on the Attorney General’s office, to make sure that it was consistent with existing law.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re going to ask for a formal opinion for the Attorney General or are you going to ask for an informal?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Well it sounds like you get the same either way, so it doesn’t make any difference.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, one takes a little longer.  I’m just wondering.  In terms of the vote of the Lottery’s participating, again, do you see that as ceding some significant control of our lottery, by participating in this Mega Lottery?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I see it just the opposite, Mr. Chairman.  Because one of the things that we’ve found in dealing with the Mega Millions states is, is that they all agree on the highest standard.  And so to the extent that California joined the Lottery, as I said earlier, we now have a higher standard for the draw games.  They are public and open, whereas in the past they’re not.  So I think collectively, there’s a lot of integrity in all of the lotteries in all of the states because in every state legislature, I’m sure there’s at least one Dean Florez who asks these kinds of questions.  I cannot imagine New York having lower standards or having their legislature have a lesser interest than you do, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Oh, I know.  But those have all expressed statutory authority, so there’s a reason to have a hearing.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Well we think we have the statutory authority too.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, so you’re saying that you feel confident in that all of the participating states are of the utmost, if you will, reputation and quality.  That there really isn’t a difference to you in terms of our standards and theirs?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  I have a lot of confidence as to the professionalism of the other states, yes, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  You’re on record supporting New Jersey, if you will, as keeping the utmost standards of…


MR. GUTIERREZ:  I think New Jersey is a fine state.  And yes, if you have a different view, Mr. Chairman, I’d love to hear it.  But otherwise, I think they’re a great state.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The withdrawal of the game, again, is up to your prerogative.  If you find that something isn’t happening in the way you’d like to see it, we have six-month window if it’s non-statutory and constitutional…


MR. GUTIERREZ:  My view is that I report to the California Lottery Commission.  They are appointed by the Governor, and they are confirmed by this Senate.  If they advise me that my participation in Mega Millions is inappropriate, I will take the appropriate action at that point.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the amended multi-state lottery agreement that I’ve read, dated March 1st, that document was signed and entered into by the approval of the Commission; is that correct?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  You know, I’ll let Melissa answer that.  That sounds like a legal question.


MS. MEITH:  That’s correct.  That was the purpose of the February 8th memo that you referenced earlier.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And again, I mentioned earlier that they participated in open meetings, and discussion took place on this concept prior to February 8, 2005?


MS. MEITH:  That’s right, as well as on February 8th.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Within the threshold of the business plan discussion.  Is that kind of how it bubbled up?

MS. MEITH:  Yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And your of the opinion….I’m closing now, so I’ll let you guys off in terms of some of the questions….you’re of the opinion, again, that may differ that….and I’m sorry to ask you this again.  It’s important for the Legislature.  I asked you to point to the statutory ability to do what you’re doing.  And I think you said you point to what section of law, and what statute would you point to that allows you to do this?


MS. MEITH:  I said, the California State Lottery Act.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes.  And again, where would you find that in the California State Lottery Act?


MS. MEITH:  Let me give you a variety of sections.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Why don’t you read me the sentence that says you can do this like the other ten states.


MS. MEITH:  I told you that there was no sentence that said California State Lottery may join a multi-state lottery game.  But I said it was consistent with every parameter under which we operate in the California State Lottery Act.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  And I think that’s an important point you just made.  There is no sentence in the Lottery Act that would allow you to do this.


MS. MEITH:  That’s right.  That’s what I said.  And I think the analogy there, Senator, is, the Legislature passes a Medi-Cal Act, for example, and says that pharmaceuticals are covered, you don’t list every drug.  You tell us what games we can offer.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  We’re closing here.  I want to be real specific.  So when I ask you to point to the statute, you’re saying there is no statute to allow you to do this, right? and you’re the legal counsel for the Lottery, and that’s important.  So I would view that as an implied.  You have the implied ability to do this.  You’re implying from the broad Lottery Act, the ability to do that.


MS. MEITH:  I would take it in two steps.  One is, under the Lottery Act, yes, we have certain parameters on what games we can offer, and we have very tight procedural controls about how we go about offering those games.  So does this game, as we are offering it here in California, California Mega Millions meet those standards, yes.  And then the device by which we then join with other states to do it, is the Joint Powers Agreement, which is pursuant to the Joint Powers Act adopted by the Legislature in 1949, amended several times since.  So those two pieces together.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And from your vantage point then, that does not imply….it has to be implied because there isn’t a statute you can give us, correct?


MS. MEITH:  There’s numerous cases on what’s expressed and what’s implied.  And I’m sure you don’t want to get into that.  But to answer your question, is there a line somewhere that says we can do this, no there is not.  There is also no line that says we cannot do this game.  It is appropriate under the Act.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The silence is your opportunity to enter into the game?


MS. MEITH:  We’re operating within the parameters that are set out, yes.


SENATOR FLOREZ:  Any other questions, Senator Cox?


SENATOR COX:  Absolutely, Mr. Chairman, thank you.


I think it’s important that we recognize that members of the Senate can reach different conclusions.  


SENATOR FLOREZ:  As you and I often do, Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  Yes, sir, we do.  Sometimes we reach the same conclusions, though, do we not?


SENATOR FLOREZ:  I think that’s only when we’re in the Members Lounge picking food, but other than that.  I’m kidding.

SENATOR COX:  Let me just ask, if I may….and thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this meeting. Let me just ask some fundamental questions:  Mr. Gutierrez, does the Commission report to the Legislature?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  It does not, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR COX:  Does the Commission report to the Governor?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  It does not, Mr. Chairman.


SENATOR COX:  So once the Commission is established, then the Commission is charged with the responsibility of running the Lottery?  And how does one get rid of a commissioner then?  Can the Governor ask a commissioner to resign and be successful in that approach?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  It is always the responsibility of the commissioner to determine if they want to resign and when they want to resign.  But to the best of my knowledge, only one commissioner in our 20-year history has resigned.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  So the way the Lottery Act set things up, once the Lottery was established by the people and a commission was established, it didn’t then report to the Legislature; it didn’t report to the Governor, as I understand it.  Let me just ask with respect to the duties and the responsibilities of the Commission:  The Commission takes a look at the performance of each game on a regular systematic basis?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  We do.  We are required by law to produce reports, financial reports, that detail the performance of each game, the administrative cost, and we present it to them and file them with the controller’s office.

SENATOR COX:  Relative to a new game, specifically to legal counsel, when you begin, marketing folks come and talk to you about how to increase the Lottery proceeds from time to time?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  They do, Mr. Chairman.  Some of them are part of the request for proposal process; some of them are unsolicited, but we get suggestions all the time.

SENATOR COX:  And with respect to a new game that you’re considering, does anyone in the Commission ever say, is this thing legal?  Can we do it?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes, they do, Mr. Chairman, when we presented this game our commissioner, Ms. Dune, asked that question of our counsel.


SENATOR COX:  What did she say?


MR. GUTIERREZ:  Is this game legal?


SENATOR COX:  And your counsel then said, yes, it’s legal and we have what?  Do you have a professional opinion from the attorney general’s office?


MS. MEITH:  We went through the reasons why the game is legal and consistent with the California State Lottery Act and talked about the AG’s opinion from 2003 as the cornerstone.  We also had informally been in conversation with the AG for some time about actually approaching entering a multi-state agreement of some type, so there’d been an ongoing discussion.


MR. GUTIERREZ:  And, Mr. Chairman, to add a point to counsel, I then asked for a refreshed revised updated written opinion, which I received.


SENATOR COX:  On February 8th, I just want to direct your attention to that memorandum for just a moment.  I want to inquire about, this is standard procedure relative to how things are put on an agenda?  You, as the legal counsel, would then, in fact, write your professional opinion, and/or would it be at the behest or direction of the director of the Lottery?

MS. MEITH:  Both or either.  I think we make decisions as a team, but ultimately the director gives the direction.  He’s the executive officer.


SENATOR COX:  Is there any time, if you, as the legal counsel for the Lottery, disagreed, would you write a letter that said, yes, as the legal counsel I don’t think this game is legal?  
MS. MEITH:  Of course.

SENATOR COX:  This memorandum however, talks about that Mr. Gutierrez is the executive officer and he’s, in fact, or someone in his capacity, is, in fact, saying, yes, this game is legal and we want to continue?
MS. MEITH:  If I may, this memorandum was actually addressing a point about who would be the authorized representative of the Commission for purposes of negotiating an agreement with the other states.  So in other words, who is going to be our representative?  So it was secondary to the question of the legality of the game.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  And I read that differently to begin with.  Thank you for clarifying that for me.

Let me just ask with respect to….again for the record….how much do you believe this new game, this Mega Millions Multi-State Lottery will enhance education’s share for California?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, Jim Hasegawa, who is sitting to my right, has been with the marketing department of the California Lottery for about 
18 years and he’s our director of marketing for the California Lottery.  He is a nationally known expert on the subject of lotteries, and perhaps, it would be best for him to answer that question.
SENATOR COX:  And with that big buildup I would expect it to be to the percent and, actually, cents on the dollars, sir.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  The range would be between $102 million and 
$170 million additional for education.  The reason there is a range is because this is a jackpot driven game, and when the $200 or $300 million jackpot occurs…
SENATOR COX:  By the way, just for the purpose of our edification—when do people in California really get excited about a lottery?  Are they excited about 
$7 million?  

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Actually no.  Typically now it takes probably about an $80 to$100 million jackpot before we see sizeable gains in sales.

SENATOR COX:  And then people really get excited if it’s $80 to $100 million?
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Yes.  That’s when we start seeing lots of people in lines at our retail stores.

SENATOR COX:  Do you break even at $7 million?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We typically don’t always get hit, but if there is a hit, we may not have the sales to cover a $7 million jackpot sometimes.

SENATOR COX:  So a $7 million jackpot is just getting the thing started and you’re not necessarily going to make money on it?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Correct.

SENATOR COX:  And therefore if you don’t make any money, you don’t send anything to education, I presume?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Either that, or we’d have to lower the estimate of 
$7 million down lower.
SENATOR COX:  So now let me ask you the $64 question, and I didn’t hear the Senator….and I apologize I had to step out of the room….but let me just ask you, you’ve made the decision to start this Lottery tomorrow, Wednesday, what happens if you don’t start?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Well the easiest question is, that we don’t benefit from the sales that we expect from it, and I think at the end of the day it’s California’s classrooms lose $102 million minimum in a course of a year.

SENATOR COX:  I didn’t hear anyone here ask you not to start the game.  I just want to know, if for some reason you walk out the door and you say, you know, my goodness, we probably really should have run this by the Legislature, even though we don’t report to them, even though we don’t report to the Governor.  Maybe we, in fact, ought to not go for this game.  Can you do that tomorrow?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I don’t think that’s a practical option that’s available to…

SENATOR COX:  I didn’t ask about the practicality.  I just asked, could you?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  In a word, no.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  So this baby is going forward tomorrow come hell or high water?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  It is going forward tomorrow.

SENATOR COX:  The Governor calls you and says, I don’t want you to do this.
MR. GUTIERREZ:  I report to a commission.  I report to a commission of four members at the moment. 

SENATOR COX:  And the Commission doesn’t report to the Governor?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No.  The Commission does not report to the Governor.  I get my direction from them.

SENATOR COX:  All right.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you.  Who appoints the Commission?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  The Governor does.  And there are certain statutory requirements that he has to follow in making those decisions.

SENATOR COX:  The commissioners paid, by the way?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  They are paid $100 a day.

SENATOR COX:  How many times do they meet?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  They meet once a month.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Maybe they ought to get paid a penny a page.  What do you think?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  A page of what?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Everything they read.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  You could pay them a penny in every ticket that they sell.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  A couple of questions.  Thank you, Senator Cox.  Just to follow up on Senator Cox’s question.  He asked you whether or not we could delay this and your answer was, no.  And mine is a very simple question—why not?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Because I report to the California Lottery Commission, and they would have to meet and they would have to advise me not to go forward.  They authorized me to go forward in the first place.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And how would they convene, and are they aware of today’s hearing?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  They are aware of today’s hearing.  I’ve kept them posted on the hearing.  They would have to call an emergency session of the Commission, and there’s a process for that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Has that ever happened?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  To the best of my knowledge, it has not.

SENATOR COX:  And how much would it cost us if you didn’t go forward tomorrow, sir?  I’m not looking for $170 million, I’m looking for what does tomorrow’s game cost.

MR. GUITERREZ:  I’m not sure I can answer your question with precision, Senator Cox, but it would cost us credibility first.  It would cost us credibility with the people of California.  We have 18,000 retailers out there.  They are at varying states of readiness to implement the game—or rather in anticipation I should say.  We have players out there that are expecting the game.  So it would cost us that, for sure.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, let me say a couple of things.  Credibility sometimes can get in the way of good decisions.  Saving face is another way to look at it.  So I think what you’re saying is, is that you wouldn’t want to pull the game back because that would be a major blunder.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  No I’m not.  I’m not saying that at all.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So we knew it was just absolutely, even though every other state has statutorily required this, even though your counsel can’t point to anywhere in statute that says we can do this, even though the AG said, in its own opinion in footnotes and caveats, go forward unless we are absolutely in contrary to our constitution and the way the game is played, even though we’re ceding control to a board with one vote now out of the eleven that are participating, significant control in the operations of the way money is wired and sent and paid and distributed to other states, and this is very different than anything the voters passed in ’84.  Everyone, I think, just common sense tells me, everyone voted for a California Lottery, a California Lottery, not a multi-state lottery.  That doesn’t concern you enough as to just move forward with this in order to, I’m going to use your word, keep our credibility.  Is that…

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, I didn’t say any of those things.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well that’s my inference from today’s testimony.  

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I appreciate that.  I didn’t say any of those things.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So why wouldn’t, given all of that, 

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Why would I go forward?  I would go forward because I have diligently followed the law.  I have asked our chief counsel to give me her opinion on whether this is legal or not.  Her answer is yes, it’s legal.  I asked the Attorney General’s office, is it legal?  They said, yes, it’s legal.  I asked, is this Joint Powers Agreement legal?  The answer is, yes, that’s legal.  This is a legal game.  That’s why I’m going forward.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The Joint Powers Agreement, obviously you are entering into, that is legal.  I don’t think anyone’s questioning that.  I think that’s what the AG opined, that you’ve asked the question of them, whether you can enter into a Joint Powers Authority.  But again, you also heard to your left, your own general counsel say, she couldn’t point to any statute expressly authorizing you to enter into this game.
MR. GUTIERREZ:  Mr. Chairman, never has she said to me, You do not have the legal authority to go forward.  Had she said that to me at any point, we would not be here today.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well intended.  Let me just ask a question in closing—one of the things also that the AG was asked to opine on was the entrance into this international lottery.  Is that something that now we’ll be moving towards, as well?  Is this committee going to be sitting here a month or two from now talking about entrance into the international lottery?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I can assure you with all sincerity and honesty, that is not an option that I am considering.  And I’m not even familiar with where the issue came up.  I think you’re referring to a 2002 opinion.  I have no knowledge of that issue, nor any interest in it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do you think if you would enter into such a lottery, that you would come to the Legislature and seek our opinion on such a move, or is that something that we’re going to continue to have these types of, you implement and then we have an oversight hearing and find out…
MR. GUTIERREZ:  I think, Mr. Chairman, my answer would be I would ask my chief counsel what legal authority I have, and ask her, in turn, to talk to the attorney general’s office.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me ask your counsel, is there a thought that, legally, that the current Lottery could enter into an international lottery?

MS. MEITH:  This Lottery is not interested, at this point, in entering into multi-national lottery.  And all I know about it is in that opinion from 2003, which you have, Senator, so  you and I know exactly the same thing.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And so memorandums that you would write in terms of recommending, as you did on February 8th, that we enter into a multi-state lottery, that probably wouldn’t happen under an international lottery unless you were directed by the Commission?  Because I asked you earlier, and you couldn’t remember who asked you write this.  

MS. MEITH:  We’re really speculating now since there’s been no discussion about entering a multi-national lottery.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, there has been.  The 2002 memo that Mr. Gutierrez just mentioned that expressly talks about the international lottery and actually makes reference to joining.

MS. MEITH:  You’re absolutely right.  There’s nothing in my experience or knowledge in this.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I might point out, Mr. Chairman, that neither Ms. Meith nor myself were there at the time, nor involved in any of these issues.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No.  It was the other governor.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I don’t even remember when the recall was, 
Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Senator Cox is gone.  Let me just ask if there’s anything else you’d like to say in closing.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  We thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the hearing.  We really do appreciate the time and energy that you’ve put in to it.  We hope that you can find a way to be supportive of this effort and join us in the first day of sales.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Does that mean with the band in front of this Capitol?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Cal Aggie, UC, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  I know you went to UCLA.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Gutierrez.  Thank you, 
Ms. Meith.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Before I have Fred Jones come up from the California Coalition Against Gambling Expansions, let me ask the Leg Counsel to come up one more time.  And as  I mentioned, I just had a couple of follow up questions for them.

I think I asked you, when we asked you to recess for a moment, to take some studious notes, and if there’s anything that you’ve heard that you might want to opine upon, this would be the opportunity.

MR. KELLY:  Well, I have a couple of clarifications, some of which actually answer probably Mr. Cox’s questions.  Initially I would point out he asked specifically whether the Lottery Commission was required to report to the Governor or the Legislature.  I would simply point out that Section 8880.40 requires the Commission to study, on an ongoing basis, various games and things.  They mentioned that they started this obviously in 1985.  In 2003 they got to the point of studying multi-jurisdictional lotteries.  While it does not require them to report to the Legislature, it does say the director may make recommendations to the Commission, the Governor, and the Legislature on matters concerning the secure and efficient operation and administration of the Lottery.  One would assume that as regards to each of those entities that they would report to the Legislature those matters that necessitate some sort of legislative response.  
In that connection with regard to express authority to conduct a multi-jurisdictional lottery, as we’ve already discussed, the other ten of the eleven states have very specific language.  There is no express authority in California law to engage in a multi-jurisdictional lottery.  Implied authority is that which is necessary and proper to those powers.  And so the fundamental question which has probably been beaten to death here is, do those express powers, the things that the Commission is required to do, is one of the necessary and proper things for them to do to engage in a multi-state lottery?
A couple of other small items.  I guess Senator Cox asked about legal games, and really in the final analysis it’s up to the courts.  In the last instance of a game that was declared invalid that I’m aware of, which was the Keno game, ultimately it was the California Supreme Court that determined that the Lottery was without authority, and that was brought, I think, by the horse racing folks.  So somewhere out there maybe someone who is interested in challenge it, but in the final analysis, it’s really up to the courts.

Finally, I would note that with respect to international lotteries, many of these other states that have specific authority, that are member states in Mega Millions, their statutes specifically reference engaging in international lotteries.  So the supposition that at least for some of those states, they have that authority and they can take the Mega Millions game to an international venue if they so chose.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Just one question—the discussion of the operational control that I think you’ve heard me go through, the disbursement of funds, the wiring of funds out of state to winners that may, in essence, be different than a California winner, the issues of retailers, what did you take from that particular discussion?  

MR. KELLY:  Let me say again, in the final analysis it’s up to the court to determine really what is operational—operational control of the Lottery.  But certainly, central to most organizations is really the financial controls, and particularly in the Lottery.  Again, our role is looking at the statutory language, the security and all the other issues.  Are the financial controls there?  And again, I guess we would couch ourselves in terms of statutory authority.  Certainly this Legislature could clarify and create the statutory authority that could vest the Lottery Commission with the ability to go out and contract, if you will, with a multi-jurisdictional lottery and have some third party entity do the oversight, do the payouts and so forth.  But again, the question is whether that authority is really there.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate it.  Okay, our last witness of the day.  Fred Jones, California Coalition Against Gambling.  Thank you for joining us.

FRED JONES:  Gambling Expansions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having this hearing.  It’s been quite interesting.  I am an attorney, but I’m not going to suffer the committee to go into any legal arguments.  I want to discuss policy.  However, I am prepared to discuss legal issues if you have any questions.  I have not read the other eleven states.  It is interesting to me that they have explicit statutes that even explicitly mention Mega Millions, and they also have, evidently, statutes that mention international lotteries, so very disconcerting.

The California Coalition Against Gambling Expansion represents 10,000 churches and about 1,200 individuals statewide.  Our concerns are kind of fourfold.  We’re concerned about the process by which this was done; we’re concerned about the legality, which has been beaten to death today, but I think appropriately so; we’re concerned about the policy of state sponsored lotteries, or maybe national and international sponsored lotteries; and finally, we’re concerned about the line in the sand—accountability.  At what point are we going to tell the commissioners that just because it may be best business practices doesn’t mean it’s necessarily best policy for the state of California.  It appears that the only mandate that Commission has, is to increase ticket sales because it helps education.  But if the Mega Lottery jackpot is at $120 million and our SuperLOTTO is at 
$15 million, do you really think that wagerers here in California will be spending money on both?  And again, the prize money in the Mega Lottery may not necessarily, and chances are, won’t, go to Californians every time.  So there’s a big concern.

So, our primary request of the Legislature is that we bring accountability to this policy discussion.  This is a radical policy shift of the State Lottery, whether one group of attorneys thinks so or not.  This is a radical departure of the original intent and scope of the voter approved initiative, which in all candor, my organization and those who support us, fought against.  And one of the reasons why we lost it, or two of the reasons, it will fund education harmlessly—which we disagreed—and it will be tightly regulated.  Because people were concerned about the moral implications of injecting gambling into our state.  We lost that on those arguments, and now we’re here discussing, in fact, the last two sessions in a row, we’ve been discussing cutting back education’s guaranteed percentage from 34% down to 26% because that would be best practices.  Is that a good policy?  Now at least the Lottery Commission came to the Legislature on that issue.  This is even bigger in our opinion.  

And so, therefore, we think there needs to be accountability in the system.  I did not vote for Mr. Gutierrez.  I did not vote for those commissioners.  Where’s the accountability?  Evidently he doesn’t even report to the Governor, who I do have an opportunity to vote for.  So bring in accountability.  
And, let’s have a policy discussion.  Of course, we are against state sponsored lotteries, but the process by which this one has been shoved down our throats, and evidently yours too, because there’s nothing you can do to stop this from happening tomorrow, is egregious, to put it mildly.  
And so, we would encourage you as legislators to draw a line in the sand on this one.  Because if you don’t on this one, what’s next?  Internet sales worldwide?  That’s good business practices.  You can justify a lot on business practices.  We need to have a policy debate.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  Is there anyone else who would like to make public comment?  Seeing and hearing none, we will adjourn the hearing.
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